

Helsinki University Biomedical Dissertations No.108

# CNS injury, γ1 laminin, and its KDI peptide

# **Ron Liebkind**

Department of Neurology Helsinki University Central Hospital & University of Helsinki

Department of Biological and Environmental Sciences, Physiology Faculty of Biosciences

> Department of Anatomy, Institute of Biomedicine Biomedicum Helsinki

> > University of Helsinki

# **Academic Dissertation**

To be publicly discussed with the permission of the Faculty of Medicine of the University of Helsinki, in the small lecture hall, Haartman Institute, Haartmaninkatu 3, Helsinki, on May 9<sup>th</sup>, 2008, at 12 noon.

Helsinki 2008

Ron Liebkind

#### Supervisor

Docent Turgut Tatlisumak Department of Neurology Helsinki University Central Hospital & University of Helsinki

### **Reviewers** Professor Olli Carpén Department of Pathology and Microbiology University of Turku

## Docent Milla Koistinaho Department of Neurobiology A.I. Virtanen Institute for Molecular Sciences University of Kuopio

#### Opponent

Professor Dan Lindholm Minerva Medical Research Institute, Biomedicum Helsinki

ISBN 978-952-10-4658-2 (paperback) ISBN 978-952-10-4659-9 (PDF) ISSN 1457-8433 http://ethesis.helsinki.fi/

Helsinki 2008 Helsinki University Press

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABBREVIATIONS	5
ABSTRACT	7
INTRODUCTION	9
THE VULNERABLE CENTRAL NERVOUS SYSTEM	9
REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	11
1. EXTRACELLULAR MATRIX AND THE BASEMENT MEMBRANE	
2. LAMININS	12
2. DAMINING	
2.1 Structure	13
2.2. Subtraction CNS development	16
2.3. Role in CNS development.	
2.5 Migration and avonal growth	
2.6 Fragments, peptides, and their functions	
	22
3. MECHANISMS OF INJURY	<b>۲۲</b>
2.2 Trauma	
3.2 Trauma.	
3.3 Ischemia	
3.3.1 Focal brain ischemia	
3.3.2 Ischemic brain edema.	
3.4 Kainic acid-induced neurotoxicity	
3.5 Inflammation	
3.6 Apoptosis	
4. REGENERATION	
4.1 Hampering factors	
4.1.1 Glial scar	
4.1.2 Myelin inhibition	
4.2 Inducing factors	
4.2.1 Neurotrophins	
4.2.2 Other growth factors	
4.2.3 Laminin	
4.2.4 KDI peptide	
AIMS OF THE STUDY	
MATERIALS AND METHODS	
	10
KEƏULIS	
1. Effects of KDI peptide in experimental culture systems (Study I)	
2. Protection against KA-induced hippocampal damage (Study II)	

3. Glutamate receptor inhibition by KDI peptide (Study III)	44
4. Distribution of laminins in focal cerebral ischemia (Study IV)	45
DISCUSSION	47
Functional properties of the KDI peptide	47
Laminin and the KDI peptide in neural regeneration	48
The KDI peptide and CNS protection	50
Laminins in ischemic stroke	53
SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	55
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	57
REFERENCES	59

# **ABBREVIATIONS**

AD:	Alzheimer's disease
AIF:	Apoptosis-inducing factor
ALS:	Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis
AMPA:	α-3-amino-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxalolepropionate
ATP:	Adenosine triphosphate
BBB:	Blood-brain barrier
BDNF:	Brain derived neurotrophic factor
BM:	Basement membrane
CCA:	Common carotid artery
CNS:	Central nervous system
CNTF:	Ciliary neurotrophic factor
CSPG:	Chondroitin sulphate proteoglycan
DG:	Dentate gyrus
DMEM:	Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium
DRG:	Dorsal root ganglia
ECM:	Extracellular matrix
EGF:	Epithelial growth factor
FGF:	Fibroblast growth factor
GAG:	Glucosaminoglycan
GFAP:	Glial fibrillary acidic protein
HEK:	Human embryonic kidney
IGF-1:	Insulin growth factor-1
KA:	Kainic acid
KDI:	Lysine, aspartic acid, isoleucine (Lys-Asp-Ile)
LIF:	Leukemia inhibitory factor
MCAO:	Middle cerebral artery occlusion
MS:	Multiple sclerosis
NGF:	Neural growth factor
NMDA:	N-methyl-D-aspartate
NO:	Nitric oxide
NT-3:	Neurotrophin-3
NT-4/5:	Neurotrophin-4/5
NT-6:	Neurotrophin-6
NT-7:	Neurotrophin-7
OPC:	Oligodendrocyte precursor cells
PD:	Parkinson's disease
PNS:	Peripheral nervous system
RT:	Room temperature
SC:	Spinal cord
SCI:	Spinal cord injury
TGF:	Transforming growth factor
TNF:	Tumor necrosis factor
TNFR:	Tumor necrosis factor receptor
tPA:	tissue plasminogen activator

# LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

# I

Liebkind, R., Laatikainen, T., and Liesi, P. Is the Soluble KDI-domain of γ1 Laminin a Regeneration Factor for the Adult Mammalian CNS? J Neurosci Res. 73: 637-43, 2003.

# Π

Wiksten, M., Väänänen, A., Liebkind, R., Rauhala, P. and Liesi, P. The Soluble KDIdomain of γ1 Laminin Protects Adult Hippocampus from Excitotoxicity of Kainic Acid. J Neurosci Res. 78: 411-9, 2004.

# III

Möykkynen, T., Liebkind, R., Sjöberg, J., Korpi, ER. and Liesi, P. The Neuroprotective KDI domain of  $\gamma$ 1-Laminin is a Universal and Potent Inhibitor of Ionotropic Glutamate Receptors. J Neurosci Res. 81: 797-804, 2005.

# IV

Liebkind, R., Tatlisumak, E., Wiksten, M., and Tatlisumak, T. Temporal and Spatial Expression Patterns of Laminins in Ischemic Brain Damage of the Adult Rat. 2008 (Manuscript).

All previously published papers were reproduced with written permission from publisher.

## ABSTRACT

The regeneration capacity of the adult mammalian central nervous system (CNS) is limited. Following an insult to the CNS, many environmental factors inhibiting or stimulating neuronal regrowth are activated. Several molecules including laminin have stimulating effects on CNS regeneration. Laminins are essential molecular constituents of all basement membranes of the body. In the CNS, laminins are involved in developmental events, such as neuronal migration and axon guidance, while in the adult CNS they participate in the formation and maintenance of the blood-brain-barrier (BBB) and are involved in trauma reactions of the CNS. Laminin-1 is a large glycoprotein and is composed from three disulfide-bonded subunits,  $\alpha 1$ ,  $\beta 1$ , and the  $\gamma 1$  chain. Many neurons express  $\gamma 1$  laminin in the mammalian adult brain; it is critical for hippocampal neuronal survival and is expressed by glial cells after CNS injury. The KDI peptide is derived from  $\gamma 1$  laminin as a neurotrophic peptide.

In this thesis study, we analyzed the role of  $\gamma 1$  laminin and its KDI peptide in different settings of CNS injury. An experimental cell-culture model mimicking a damaged CNS environment showed that the KDI peptide has a stimulating effect on neuronal survival and neurite outgrowth. We analyzed neurons from human embryonic spinal cord, retina, and neocortex, leading to findings that both neuronal survival and neurite outgrowth were stimulated by the soluble KDI peptide in all of these tissues.

A stereotaxic injection of kainic acid into rat hippocampus was done for testing the possible protective effect of the KDI peptide. A preceding injection of the KDI peptide protected both hippocampal and neocortical areas of excitotoxic brain damage caused by kainic acid. Kainic acid alone caused serious tissue damage to the hippocampal and neocortical injection sites.

The KDI peptide showed inhibition of glutamate excitotoxicity by inhibiting kainate, AMPA, and NMDA subclasses of glutamate receptors in patch clamp recordings. Neurons were cultured from human embryonic neocortex and from HEK 293 cells expressing recombinant glutamate subunits. These studies indicate that the KDI peptide of  $\gamma$ 1 laminin enhances neuronal survival and protects against glutamate excitotoxicity at least partially through inhibition of various glutamate receptors.

Ron Liebkind

Following middle cerebral artery occlusion leading to focal brain ischemia in rats, various laminins were mapped both spatially and temporally. Laminin-1 was increased in basement membranes and scar-forming extracellular matrix;  $\gamma 1$  laminin was induced earlier than other laminins and expressed by reactive astrocytes. Similarly, the KDI peptide of  $\gamma 1$  laminin was expressed by reactive astrocytes surrounding the ischemic region but detected along major neuronal pathways as well. The different patterns of laminin expression suggest involvement of different laminins in different functions in the pathophysiology of experimental brain ischemia. In general, these studies present novel data on the expression of laminins in the healthy and damaged brain, demonstrate protective effects of the KDI tripeptide of  $\gamma 1$  laminin in cell cultures and in vivo in the brain, and give clues as to the mechanisms of KDI peptide neuroprotection.

## INTRODUCTION

### THE VULNERABLE CENTRAL NERVOUS SYSTEM

During the past two decades neuroscience has developed greatly. One of the major challenges has been regeneration of the central nervous system (CNS). In the peripheral nervous system (PNS) injured axons often regenerate, but in the CNS, injury is usually permanent. This injury often leads to serious functional deficits and traumatizes the individual both physically and mentally. Current therapies in human CNS injury are primarily based on rehabilitation (Tsai and Tator, 2005), although several molecular and cellular strategies are being tested on animals (Thuret et al., 2006), and there is a desperate need for new treatments.

Until the beginning of the 1980s, it was unclear whether the lack of regeneration capacity in the CNS was from an intrinsic neuronal inability or lack of growth factors. Experiments testing differences in growth environments between the PNS and CNS show that peripheral nerves do not grow in a CNS glial environment (Aguayo et al., 1981), in opposition to CNS neurites that grow through transplanted PNS grafts (David and Aguayo, 1981). These findings show that neurons of the CNS can succeed in regenerating, and the influence of the environmental factors plays a central role. The major physical and molecular structures of inhibition in the spinal cord (SC) at cellular level seem to be the glial scar and myelin. Several molecules have been shown to interact in these inhibitory systems and are further specified later in the text. Focusing on inhibitory and stimulating factors of nerve regeneration after injury has produced many promising cellular and molecular strategies being tested in animal experiments on enhancing neurite outgrowth.

Injury in the CNS results from either trauma or disease. Disease can be of both an acute and chronic nature whereas trauma is always acute. Depending on the nature of damage to the CNS, the mechanisms activated on a cellular and molecular level differ. Acute cerebral ischemia causes early excitotoxicity, inflammation, blood-brain-barrier (BBB) disruption, and brain edema, leading to both programmed apoptosis and passive neuronal necrosis (Dirnagl et al., 1999, Ayata and Ropper, 2002). Spinal cord injury (SCI) can result from various types of injury: in the acute phase, via actual physical trauma, oxidative stress, excitotoxicity, edema, and hemorrhagic toxicity, all leading to functional loss. Secondary processes such as apoptosis, demyelinization, and inflammation further affect and cause deterioration in the SCI (Crowe et al., 1997, Jones et al., 2005). The most common diseases that cause neuronal degeneration in their own specific manner are Alzheimer's disease (AD), stroke, Parkinson's disease (PD), amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), multiple sclerosis (MS), and various bacterial and viral infections. Toxic damage to the CNS can be induced by drugs, alcohol, chemical compounds, or diseases such as acute liver failure. A variety of animal models allow testing of human CNS injuries and diseases (Tatlisumak and Fisher, 2006). Interestingly, various major CNS diseases involve similar injury and repair mechanisms.

Some spontaneous repair and collateral sprouting are evident after SC damage even though restoration of functional loss is poor (Stichel and Muller, 1998). Similarly, new neurons are created in the human CNS, although selectively and mainly in the olfactory bulb, subventricular zone, and hippocampus (Falk and Frisen, 2005). Since these adaptive changes in the CNS are insufficient, CNS damage often leads to permanent and severe functional loss. All mechanisms and interventions that may enhance regeneration in the brain and hence attenuate functional loss are therefore a target of intense research.

10

# **REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE**

### 1. EXTRACELLULAR MATRIX AND THE BASEMENT MEMBRANE

The extracellular matrix (ECM), which fills the pericellular space, has been defined as a composition of mainly different glycoproteins and proteoglycans. The basement membrane (BM) is a thin structure considered a specialized ECM and mainly comprises type IV collagens, laminins, perlecan, nidogens, and other molecules (Colognato and Yurchenco, 2000, Yurchenco et al., 2004). The BM separates different cells from their underlying tissues, it provides mechanical stability, and it takes part in cellular functions such as migration, proliferation, and cell survival (Timpl and Brown, 1996). The many functional properties are often linked with molecular interaction of the BM (Yurchenco et al., 2004). Many ECM molecules are thus considered to be BM-associated molecules but are not constituents of the actual BM structure. The term "basement membrane" was used after its appearance in light microscopy, and with electron microscopy its structure can be further distinguished into layers known as the lamina rara externa (or lamina lucida), lamina densa, lamina rara interna, and lamina fibroreticularis (Laurie et al., 1982, Leblond and Inoue, 1989). The term "basal lamina" can serve to describe the first three layers above, but according to today's practice the term BM includes all four layers. Because the basal lamina connects to the lamina fibroreticularis, containing collagen fibrils, it connects to the underlying tissue (Merker, 1994)(Figure 1).

The molecular composition of the ECM can be diverse and therefore provide the BM with many functional abilities. Since the ECM molecules can bind and send signals to surrounding cells, they reflect the functions of the tissues they surround. The ECM takes part in tissue maintenance and is also a dynamic medium for molecular signalling (Yurchenco and Schittny, 1990).



**Figure 1.** A simplified scheme of basement membrane (BM) structure. 1. Epithelium. 2. Lamina rara externa (or lamina lucida). 3. Lamina densa. 4. Lamina rara interna. 5. Lamina fibroreticularis. Three layers can be designated basal lamina (BL).

#### 2. LAMININS

#### 2.1. Nomenclature

Several classifications allow for classification of laminins and the composition of their chains. The first laminin chains identified were called A, B1, and B2 chains, later renamed as  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ , and  $\gamma$ . A nomenclature was created around the Greek vocabulary to identify the laminin isoforms composed of the  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ , and  $\gamma$  chains (Burgeson et al., 1994). A hetero-trimeric isoform of laminin is formed by one chain from each class. Arabic numbers are combined with the Greek letters that describe the chain so that each isoform can be classified in the order of its discovery (Burgeson et al., 1994). For example, laminin-1 would be described as  $\alpha 1\beta 1\gamma 1$  and laminin-2 as  $\alpha 2\beta 1\gamma 1$ , often also with their chain assembly in parenthesis (Table 1).

In 2005 came a new nomenclature, no longer using Greek letters for the composition of the different chains but three Arabic letters representing each chain (Aumailley et al., 2005), and the first number representing the  $\alpha$  chain, the second the  $\beta$  chain, and the third number the  $\gamma$  chain. For example, laminin-1 would be called laminin-111, because its chain composition is  $\alpha 1\beta 1\gamma 1$ ; laminin-2 is called laminin-211 (Aumailley et al., 2005), since it is the first laminin described with a variant form of the  $\alpha$  chain  $\alpha 2\beta 1\gamma 1$ . According to this system the list goes on. This thesis, however uses the nomenclature created earlier (Burgeson et al., 1994), since the publications presented in this study have used both Greek and Arabic letters to describe laminin chains.

#### 2.2. Structure

Laminin-1 ( $\alpha$ 1 $\beta$ 1 $\gamma$ 1) is a cross-shaped glycoprotein with three short arms and one long arm (Engel et al., 1981). It is composed of three polypeptides that consist of several different domains,  $\alpha$ 1 with nine domains (Sasaki et al., 1988),  $\beta$ 1 with seven (Sasaki et al., 1987), and  $\gamma$ 1 with six (Sasaki and Yamada, 1987). Laminin-1 was originally purified from the Engelbreth-Holm-Swarm tumor (Timpl et al., 1979), and the structures of the human and mouse laminin-1 (Pikkarainen et al., 1987, Sasaki et al., 1987, Sasaki and Yamada, 1987, Pikkarainen et al., 1988, Nissinen et al., 1991) were found to be compatible with the purified protein (Sasaki et al., 1988). The N-terminus of laminin-1 is composed of the three short arms of the  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ , and  $\gamma$  chains. The N-termini of these chains are closely related and consist of domains III toVI. The long arm of laminin-1, consisting of domains I and II, has a rod-like structure in which the C-terminal of the three chains are combined. A globular G-domain extends to the  $\alpha$ 1 chain in the C-terminal. Almost in the center of the laminin cross in domain II, and in domain I near the globular C-terminal part, the three polypeptide chains are linked by disulfide bonds (Engel et al., 1981, Beck et al., 1993) (Figure 2).

The three monomeric polypeptide chains forming laminin-1 vary in molecular weight depending on tissue and species as well as on their degree of glycosylation (Engel et al., 1981, Beck et al., 1990, Beck et al., 1993, Burgeson et al., 1994). Laminin-1 is a highly glycosylated protein, meaning that 25 to 30% of its molecular weight is formed by carbohydrate (Knibbs et al., 1989). Laminin-1 also contains many N-glycosylation sites— 74 potential sites (Beck et al., 1990)—reported to play a functional role in multiple cellular properties such as neurite outgrowth, tumor cell adhesion, cell migration, and molecular interactions (Dennis et al., 1984, Dean et al., 1990, Chammas et al., 1991).

The short arms in the N-terminal of laminin-1 contain cysteine-rich residues. These residues are closely related to the epidermal growth factor (EGF) (Engel, 1989). In Ron Liebkind

the  $\beta$ 1 and  $\gamma$ 1 polypeptide chains two cysteine-rich EGF-like repeats occur in domains III and V (Sasaki et al., 1987, Sasaki and Yamada, 1987). Similarly, in the  $\alpha$ 1 chain, three cystein-rich chains occur in domains IIIa, IIIb, and V (Sasaki et al., 1988) (Figure 2).

The long arms of the polypeptide chains of laminin-1 form double- and triplestranded coiled-coil structures and require a short sequence at the C-terminal of each chain (Utani et al., 1994, Utani et al., 1995). There is a low sequence homology of the polypeptide long arms, but they all include repeating sequences of seven residues that allow them to coil around each other (Beck et al., 1990, Beck et al., 1993). The  $\beta$  and  $\gamma$  chains first form a dimeric structure and then follow a trimeric formation with the  $\alpha$  chain (Peters et al., 1985, Utani et al., 1994, Utani et al., 1995, Nomizu et al., 1996).

Former name	chains	new name
Laminin-1	α1β1γ1	Laminin-111
Laminin-2	α2β1γ1	Laminin-211
Laminin-3	α1β2γ1	Laminin-121
Laminin-4	α2β2γ1	Laminin-221
Laminin-5a	α3Αβ3γ2	Laminin-332
Laminin-5b	α3Ββ3γ2	Laminin-3B32
Laminin-6	α3β1γ1	Laminin-311
Laminin-7	α3β2γ1	Laminin-321
Laminin-8	α4β1γ1	Laminin-411
Laminin-9	α4β2γ1	Laminin-421
Laminin-10	α5β1γ1	Laminin-511
Laminin-11	α5β2γ1	Laminin-521
Laminin-12	α2β1γ3	Laminin-213
Laminin-14	α4β2γ3	Laminin-423
Laminin-15	α5β2γ3	Laminin-523

 Table 1. Laminin trimers, nomenclature, and chains



**Figure 2.** Laminin-1 structure,  $\alpha 1\beta 1\gamma 1$  trimer, including domain structure indicated with Roman numerals (I-IV,  $\alpha$ ) according to the earlier nomenclature (Burgeson et al., 1994) and within parenthesis newly proposed (laminin-111) nomenclature (coiled-coil, LN, LEa, LEb, L4a, L4b, LEc, L4, LF, L $\beta$ )(Aumailley et al., 2005). A finger domain of  $\alpha 1$  laminin contains five globular domains (G or (LG)). "Hinge" indicates an inter-domain bridge between marked globular domains.

 Table 2. Laminin receptors

Integrins:  $\alpha 1\beta 1$ ,  $\alpha 2\beta 1$ ,  $\alpha 3\beta 1$ ,  $\alpha 6\beta 1$ ,  $\alpha 7\beta 1$ ,  $\alpha 6\beta 4$ 67/68-kDa laminin receptor  $\alpha$ -dystroglycan

#### 2.3. Role in CNS development

Laminin-1 is known for its central part in the architecture of the BMs in almost all mammalian tissues. Its fundamental role appears during development in both embryonic and extraembryonic BMs starting from embryonic implantation (Leivo et al., 1980, Dziadek and Timpl, 1985, Miner et al., 2004) and also taking part in organ development (Miner and Yurchenco, 2004). The  $\gamma$ 1 chain of laminin-1 is required for endodermal differentiation and formation of the BM (Halfter et al., 2002).

In Drosophila, laminin is essential for CNS function and proper development of the visual system (Garcia-Alonso et al., 1996), and in Xenopus it also seems to play a central role during CNS development (Lallier et al., 1996). In Drosophilia and C. elegans, two laminins are relevant for viability and are essential even in intervertebrate developmental functions (Huang et al., 2003).

Mutations in mammalian laminin genes representing the heterotrimers laminin-1 and -10 are fatal to the embryo and lead to defects in gastrulation, in neural tube closure, and in placentation (Miner et al., 1998, Smyth et al., 1999, Miner et al., 2004). Other reports on mutations in laminin genes show a more organ-specific defect less fundamental to early embryonal development, such as in the kidney (Noakes et al., 1995, Miner and Li, 2000), lungs (Nguyen et al., 2002), placenta (Miner et al., 1998), retina (Libby et al., 1999), PNS (Chen and Strickland, 2003), pancreas (Miner et al., 2004), and in skin/epithelial disruption (McLean et al., 2003) and CNS myelinization (Chun et al., 2003). Laminin receptor mutations also show the importance of molecular interaction in the developing brain: in conditional knockouts affecting dystroglycan and in integrin  $\beta$ 1, resulting in disruption of the pial membrane (glia limitans) (Graus-Porta et al., 2001, Moore et al., 2002). Mutation of the nidogen binding site of  $\gamma$ 1 laminin leads to a disruption of their interaction and also leads to discontinuites in the pial membrane together with neuronal migration errors (Moore et al., 2002). For major laminin receptors see Table 2.

#### **2.4.CNS distribution**

In the healthy CNS, laminin depositions appear mainly in the vascular- and pial BMs and the choroid plexus (Martin and Timpl, 1987, Miner and Yurchenco, 2004). In hippocampal cell layers, laminin-1 can be detected in neurons of both the developing and adult rat brain (Hagg et al., 1989). Laminin chain  $\alpha$ 5,  $\beta$ 1, and  $\gamma$ 1 expression in the hippocampal neuronal layers (CA1, CA5, and dentate gyrus) seem to be the highest (Indyk et al., 2003). Additionally, neuronal expression of laminin-1 occurs in the neocortex of the adult rat, and its  $\gamma$ 1 chain actively participates in modulating neuronal activity (Hager et al., 1998).

In the adult mammalian CNS,  $\alpha 2$  laminin is associated with neuronal tracts of the limbic system, and the  $\gamma 1$  chain appears throughout the brain in neuronal cell bodies (Hagg et al., 1997). The  $\gamma 3$  laminin expression has been characterized not only in BM structures but also in different structures of the brain (Koch et al., 1999).

Neurons expressing genes of the laminin subtypes  $\alpha 1$ ,  $\alpha 5$ ,  $\beta 1$ , and  $\gamma 1$  were studied by use of a  $\beta$ -geo marker in gene trapping methodology (Yin et al., 2003). Expression of  $\beta 1$  and  $\gamma 1$  laminin immunoreactivity was evident but no  $\alpha$  chain in adult mouse neurons in the cerebral cortex, hippocampus, and retina. A co-trapping method was also used to show that  $\gamma 1$  laminin and  $\beta 1$  laminin can form a protein complex intracellularly, and since no  $\alpha$  chains were expressed here, the secretion of a laminin dimer was possible (Yin et al., 2003). In the same experimental assembly,  $\alpha 5$  chains occurred in the choroid plexus and vascular basement membrane. Lack of the  $\alpha 1$  subunit, but expression of  $\beta 1$  and  $\gamma 1$  laminin, are possible in both mouse brain and astrocyte cultures from rat cortex and olfactory bulb, where a dimeric laminin-1 was a possibility (Liesi and Risteli, 1989). Many studies show laminin subunit expression in the CNS in astrocytes and neurons.

Many of these studies show laminin subunit expression, but whether all subunits can be independently secreted to the extracellular space still remains unclear since some propose that the  $\alpha$ 1 chain drives the secretion of  $\beta$ 1 and  $\gamma$ 1 laminins (Yurchenco et al., 1997, Miner and Yurchenco, 2004).

Rat brain astrocytes in primary culture express laminin-1; the younger the source, the longer the expression. The same astrocytes, positively double immunostained by glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) and laminin-1, were cultured from embryonic,

newly born, and 5-day-old rat brain (Liesi et al., 1983). A neurotoxic injury to the rat brain induces laminin-1 in reactive astrocytes (Liesi et al., 1984). In both normal and pathological CNS, laminins are expressed in neuroectodermal cells (Bernstein et al., 1985). In AD, laminin-1,  $\alpha$ 1, and  $\gamma$ 1 laminin occur in reactive astrocytes and the  $\gamma$ 1 chain could be localized to the senile plaques typical for AD pathology (Palu and Liesi, 2002). After SCI in adult rats,  $\alpha$ 1 and  $\gamma$ 1 laminin can also be detected in reactive astrocytes (Liesi and Kauppila, 2002, Wiksten et al., 2004).

#### 2.5. Migration and axonal growth

Through its neurotropic properties—participating in directing neurite growth—laminin plays an important role in the developmental process which involves migration and formation of neuronal pathways. In vitro, laminin-1 promotes the axonal growth activity of central neurons (Manthorpe et al., 1983), and in the developing rat brain, in vivo expression of laminin-1 coincides with neuronal migration (Liesi, 1985). Laminin-1 is expressed throughout the embryonic and early developing CNS, often correlating with neuronal pathways and migration (Cohen et al., 1987, Liesi and Silver, 1988, Morissette and Carbonetto, 1995). Both neurons and glial cells synthesize  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ , and  $\gamma$  chains of laminins in the developing mammalian CNS (Libby et al., 2000, Liesi et al., 2001, Wiksten et al., 2003). A different expression pattern of the laminin isoforms in human embryonic SC and brain has also been reported (Liesi et al., 2001). Laminin isoforms  $\alpha 1$ ,  $\beta 1$ ,  $\beta 3$ , and  $\gamma 1$  are associated with axonal guidance and are also localized in the floor plate of the developing embryonal human SC (Wiksten et al., 2003).

Retinal ganglion cells need laminin-1 during development for the neurite outgrowth and neuronal guidance in which they themselves actively participate. Interestingly, this response is lost during maturation (Cohen et al., 1986, Cohen et al., 1987). In the retina,  $\beta$ 2 laminin expression in particular has been connected with synapse development and outer layer photoreceptor morphogenesis (Libby et al., 1996, Libby et al., 1997); other laminins such as  $\alpha$ 2,  $\alpha$ 3,  $\alpha$ 4,  $\alpha$ 5,  $\beta$ 3,  $\gamma$ 2, and  $\gamma$ 3 can occur outside the retinal BM (Libby et al., 2000). Characterization of these subunits led to characterizing two new laminin heterotrimers (Libby et al., 2000). Laminin  $\alpha$ 2 is expressed when retinal pathways start to develop within the brain (Morissette and Carbonetto, 1995). Laminin  $\alpha$ 2 has been identified in the CNS through dysfunctional states: A mutation in the  $\alpha$ 2 laminin has been associated with dysmyelinization, lack of development, and muscular dystrophy (Sunada et al., 1995, van der Knaap et al., 1997). The connection to demyelinization is through the oligodendrocyte laminin receptors (Colognato et al., 2007).

Laminin-1 expression is connected with neuronal survival in the hippocampus, and degradation of laminin makes them more susceptible to dying (Chen and Strickland, 1997); the  $\gamma$ 1 chain seems to be of specific importance in this process (Chen et al., 2003). An axon regeneration model of the CNS, in lesioned hippocampal slices, shows that  $\gamma$ 1 laminin plays a central role in neuronal regeneration, and that hippocampal neurons synthesize  $\gamma$ 1 laminin (Grimpe et al., 2002). The hypothesis of  $\gamma$ 1 laminin involvement as an axon growth-promoting laminin isoform was tested in culture studies using synthetically derived peptides. A decapeptide (RDIAEIIKDI) of  $\gamma$ 1 laminin, from the C-terminal part, promoted neurite growth of both central and peripheral neurons (Liesi et al., 1989). The same decapeptide of  $\gamma$ 1 laminin also occurs in the hippocampus (Matsuzawa et al., 1996). Furthermore, a tripeptide (KDI), derived from the same decapeptide, induces potassium currents in central neurons and mediates the neuronal outgrowth-stimulating properties of  $\gamma$ 1 laminin (Liesi et al., 2001). Matrigel cultures show how neurites from spinal cord explants tend to grow towards and into matrigel if it has added KDI (Wiksten et al., 2003).

In the cerebellum, between the meningeal layer and the Purkinje cell layer lies an external granular layer (Goldowitz and Hamre, 1998, Wang and Zoghbi, 2001) in which granular precursor cells express laminin receptors of integrin  $\beta$  type, and the proliferating cells are in close association with laminin isoforms embedded within the BM (Blaess et al., 2004). Within this granular layer, laminin enhances the effects of sonic hedgehog (Ssh) and induces proliferation (Pons et al., 2001, Lewis et al., 2004).

#### 2.6 Fragments, peptides, and their functions

Using enzymes to split laminin-1 into fragments could localize this molecule's different functions (Engel et al., 1981, Ott et al., 1982, Bruch et al., 1989). With proteolytic enzymes such as pepsin, elastase, cathepsin-G, and trypsin, functional studies could reveal

fragments active in cell attachment (Timpl et al., 1983), mitosis (Panayotou et al., 1989), and nidogen binding (Paulsson et al., 1987). Use of elastase in a similar manner allowed neuronal outgrowth capacity to be localized to the E8 fragment of laminin-1 (Edgar et al., 1984). In this fragment, the peptides RDIAEIIKDI and KDI may also be located. The fragments defined are in Figure 3.

Amino-acid sequencing of laminin-1 fragments has enabled further investigation and definition of the laminin-1 peptides and their biological functions. Eleven neuronally active laminin-1-derived peptides and their functional activities are presented in Table 3.



**Figure 3.** Proteolytic fragments of laminin-1. Enzymes used to cleave laminin-1 into experimental fragment *C* by cathepsin-G, *E* by elastase, *P* by pepsin, *T* by trypsin. The 25K fragment was generated by treating mouse tumor laminin-1 with clostripatin-containing collagenase and purifying its trypsin digests (Timpl et al., 1979). The P1' fragment is partially cleaved, but disulphide bridges hold it together (Aumailley et al., 2005). The globular domains of  $\alpha$ 1 laminin are presented here as the spheres 1 to 5.

Loca-	Function	Peptide	Reference
tion		1	
α1 G	Neurite outgrowth	KATPMLKMRTSFHGCIK	(Skubitz et al., 1991)
α1 G	Neurite outgrowth	KEGYKVRDLNITLEFRTTSK	(Skubitz et al., 1991)
al G	Neurite outgrowth	KNLEISRSTFDLLRNSYGRK	(Skubitz et al., 1991)
α1 G	Neurite outgrowth	DGKWHTVKTEYIKRKAF	(Skubitz et al., 1991)
α4 G	Neurite outgrowth	LAIKNDNLVYVY	(Ichikawa et al., 2005)
α4 G	Neurite outgrowth	DVISLYNFKHIY	(Ichikawa et al., 2005)
α4 G	Neurite outgrowth	VIRDSNVVOLDV	(Ichikawa et al., 2005)
α4 G	Neurite outgrowth, peptide in cyclic form	CTLFLAHGRLVFX	(Ichikawa et al., 2005)
β2 I	Inhibition of neurite out- growth	LRE	(Porter et al., 1995)
	Neuronal cell attachment		(Hunter et al., 1989)
	Promotion of motor axon growth		(Brandenberger et al., 1996)
γ1 I	Neurite outgrowth, neuro-	RDIAEIIKDI	(Liesi et al., 1989,
	trophic and neurotoxic ef- fect, activation of potas- sium currents		Liesi et al., 2001)
	Neuronal migration and nuclear translocation		(Liesi et al., 1995)
	Axonal differentation and		(Matsuzawa et al.,
	guidance		1996, Matsuzawa et
			al., 1998)
γ1 I	Guidance of neurite out- growth	KDI	(Wiksten et al., 2003)
	Regeneration of SCI		(Wiksten et al., 2004)
	Neurite outgrowth and ac- tivation of potassium cur- rents		(Liesi et al., 2001)
	Protection against 6-OHDA		(Väänänen et al., 2006)

Table 3. Laminin-1 derived peptides and their neuronal functions.

Studies in Table 3 show results using primary neurons in their experimental setting. Amino acids: A, alanine; R, arginine; N, aspargine; D, aspartic acid; C, cysteine; Q, glutamine; E, glutamic acid; G, glycine; H, histidine; I, isoleucine; L, leucine; K, lysine; M, methionine; F, phenylalanine; P, proline; S, serine; T, threonine; W, tryptophan; Y, tyrosine; V, valine.

#### **3. MECHANISMS OF INJURY**

#### **3.1 Excitotoxicity**

In the CNS the major excitatory neurotransmitter is glutamate. Its release from neuronal synapses leads to neuronal glutamate receptor stimulation and excitatory synaptic transmission. Glutamate and its receptors are central communicative constituents for neurons; they support neuronal network activity and play an important role in maintaining both normal and pathological conditions in the CNS.

Excitotoxicity contributes in both acute and chronic CNS diseases to neuronal degeneration. Often a lack of oxygen or of glucose leads to depolarization of neurons which leads in turn to the release of glutamate into the extracellular space. Uptake of glutamate by astroglial cells is hampered during ischemia and hypoxia, resulting in even higher glutamate concentrations in the postsynaptic cleft. Excessive glutamate release can lead to a disruption of Ca<sup>2+</sup> homeostasis (Choi, 1995). It is suggested that because glutamate toxicity is primarily dependent on  $Ca^{2+}$  influx, ionotrophic glutamate receptors may play a key role (Choi, 1987, Choi et al., 1987). The ionotrophic glutamate receptors have traditionally been classified into three subtypes, N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA),  $\alpha$ -3amino-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxalolepropionate (AMPA), and kainate (KA) receptors. When they are activated, their ion channels open for influx especially of Ca<sup>2+</sup> and Na<sup>+</sup> ions into neurons. Activation of metabotrophic receptors leads to release of intracytoplasmic  $Ca^{2+}$  stores, further increasing the cytoplasmic calcium overload. The rise in intracellular calcium stimulates intracellular neurotoxic pathways and enzymes, neuronal mitochondrical respiration is impaired, and cessation or near cessation of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) production occurs. Furthermore, production of reactive oxygen radicals and activation of apoptotic signals extend CNS tissue damage. Prior to the Ca<sup>2+</sup>-dependent excitotoxicity, the entry of Na<sup>+</sup> and Cl<sup>-</sup> ions into neurons leads to acute cellular swelling called cytotoxic edema (Dirnagl et al., 1999, Arundine and Tymianski, 2003, Arundine and Tymianski, 2004).

Glutamate receptors, which can be found throughout the brain, participate in the pathophysiology of many brain diseases and CNS trauma. Mediating excitotoxicity, they may take part in ischemic brain damage (Hossmann, 1994), epilepsy (Swann et al., 2000), and brain injury caused by trauma (Siesjo et al., 1995). Neurodegenerative diseases such as AD (Smith-Swintosky and Mattson, 1994), PD (Beal, 1998), Huntington's disease (Ross et al., 1997), and ALS (Eisen and Weber, 2001) involve excessive glutamate receptor stimulation and thereby neuronal cell death.

### 3.2 Trauma

Traumatic CNS injury has several forms including mechanical, chemical, thermal, and electrical. Among these, mechanical trauma is overwhelmingly the most common and most disabling. A traumatic blow to the brain or SC results in both acute and secondary tissue damage to the CNS. In the acute reaction, direct cell death occurs at the damage site. Neurons, astrocytes, oligodendrocytes, and endothelial cells suffer from acute cell death, and lack of both oxygen and glucose further damages the tissue. Hemorrhage, vascular damage, inflammation, and edema follow and contribute to the acute phase of the injury (Hagg and Oudega, 2006).

Head trauma can be both focal and diffuse, depending on the mechanism of impact (Gennarelli et al., 1982) (Medana and Esiri, 2003). Since research on the molecular mechanisms of CNS trauma is more clearly defined regarding spinal cord injury, and most of the pathophysiological mechanisms in brain and SC trauma are similar, the following insights into secondary traumatic CNS tissue damage will be studied with focus on the SC. Acute cell death spreads through secondary mechanisms of injury in the white matter of the SC where extracellular glutamate also participates, through excitotoxicity to continuous neural damage (Park et al., 2004). The secondary processes continue to hamper the function of the already damaged SC through apoptosis of oligodendrocytes and loss of myelin (Crowe et al., 1997), and demyelinization can continue for months and possibly for years (Guest et al., 2005). During the first 3 to 7 days, many inflammatory cells such as monocytes, macrophages, microglia, and T-lymphocytes can be identified in the SCI area (Popovich et al., 1997). Many mechanisms contribute to necrotic cell damage: nitric oxide (NO) production, Ca<sup>2+</sup> homeostasis disruption, membrane breakdown, and oxidative stress (Casha et al., 2001). During the secondary phase, a scar forms in the SC, also known as the

glial scar, its molecular constituents actively repelling axonal growth (Rhodes and Fawcett, 2004). The glial scar is formed around the lesion site and contains reactive astrocytes (McKeon et al., 1991). Moreover, meningeal fibroblasts and macrophages invade the lesion site, creating a more fibrous scar, adding to the mechanical obstacle against neurons' growing and re-forming networks (Stichel and Muller, 1998, Preston et al., 2001).

#### 3.3 Ischemia

#### 3.3.1 Focal brain ischemia

In treating patients with functional impairments caused by CNS damage, the vulnerability of the human CNS is always a challenge. One of the most common causes of CNS damage is brain ischemia caused by a blood perfusion deficit. Since the neurons are unable to store valuable resources of energy such as glucose or oxygen, their survival is dependent on a continuous supply through the blood circulation.

Focal brain ischemia is caused by lack or critical attenuation of blood flow to one region of the brain. Depending on the site of vascular occlusion, various parts of the brain can be affected and clinically recognized based on signs, symptoms, and imaging studies. Ischemic brain damage has a complex pathophysiology. Decreased blood flow leads to a lack of substrates for the cells that are dependent on both glucose and oxygen, causing depolarization of neurons and astroglia. Excessive amounts of glutamate are released to the extracellular space, and through receptor activation, intracellular calcium rises (see part 3.1). Due to the vascular occlusion and reduction in blood flow, disruption of the BBB follows, leading to brain edema and escalation of inflammatory processes. The cause of BBB breakdown is believed to be connected with proteases such as the matrix metalloproteases destroying the basal lamina, inflammatory molecules, and free radicals. The free radicals arise mainly due to a lack of substrate (glucose, oxygen), leading to anaerobic glycolysis and acidosis. They generate an increase in intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup>, Na<sup>+</sup>, and Cl<sup>-</sup> ions, thus leading to apoptosis and necrosis. Postischemic inflammation has many components, microglia and leukocytes being important ones (Stoll et al., 1998). Ischemia-

induced upregulation of adhesion molecules leads to recruitment of circulating leukocytes to the surface of endothelial cells (Lindsberg et al., 1996) and through pro-inflammatory cytokines infarct volume further increase (Relton et al., 1996).

#### 3.3.2 Ischemic brain edema

On the cellular level, two types of edema after ischemia are usually recognized. Cytotoxic edema, described as cellular swelling, is mainly caused by sodium influx into cytoplasm, followed by water. Na<sup>+</sup> and Ca<sup>2+</sup> ion influx is partly the result of neurotransmitter stimulation of ligand-gated receptors. The Ca<sup>2+</sup> overload and the cellular swelling is thought to be cytotoxic for the injured cells (Choi, 1992, Neumann-Haefelin et al., 2000). Vasogenic edema, also described as the extracellular component of brain swelling, is caused mainly by a disrupted BBB (Ayata and Ropper, 2002). Contributing to the endothelial damage and vascular permeability, leading to a shift of water to the extracellular compartments, are inflammatory processes and free radicals. Further damaging the BBB and increasing its permeability are matrix metalloproteases that actively break down the matrix proteins in the basal lamina (Mun-Bryce and Rosenberg, 1998).

#### 3.4 Kainic acid-induced neurotoxicity

Kainic acid (KA) is a neurotoxic glutamate agonist (Olney et al., 1974). A well-described model for studying neurodegeneration is the injection of kainic acid into the hippocampus (Ben-Ari et al., 1979). Kainic acid binds non-NMDA-type glutamate receptors (AMPA and kainate receptors) and takes part in excitotoxic cell death (Chen et al., 1995). Activation of kainate receptors raises intracellular calcium, the production of reactive oxygen species, and mitochondrial dysfunction, all leading to apoptotic cell death in neurons (Cheng and Sun, 1994, Milatovic et al., 2002). In the rat hippocampus, after KA injection, proliferation of astrocytes and microglia is evident (Wang et al., 2005). KA has been useful for studying neurological conditions such as epileptic seizures (Ben-Ari, 1985), Huntington's disease (Coyle et al., 1983), AD (Coyle et al., 1983), and trauma (Wang et al.,

Ron Liebkind

2005). It has been applied both in vivo and in vitro to test pharmacological and neuroprotective compounds against excitotoxic events in the CNS. Intrahippocampal, intracerebroventricular, and systemic administration of KA has been a tool in various settings for study of neurodegeneration (Ben-Ari, 1985). Neurodegenerative changes, especially in the hippocampus, are of value in studying areas such as the CA1 and CA3, where pyramidal neurons as well as interneurons in the hilus of the dentate gyrus (DG) are particularly vulnerable to KA (Ben-Ari, 1985, Grooms et al., 2000). Interestingly, pyramidal cells in the hippocampal CA2 and glomerular cells of the DG seem to be more tolerant to excitotoxicity (Grooms et al., 2000, Oprica et al., 2003). The molecular basis for this difference may be the diverse expression of kainate and AMPA receptors, which thereby influence the sensitivity of Ca<sup>2+</sup> permeability and the selective vulnerability of the specific region (Malva et al., 1998, Grooms et al., 2000, Weiss and Sensi, 2000). Excitotoxic cell death caused by KA may be inhibited by the AMPA receptor antagonist CNQX (6-cyano-7nitroquinoxalone-2, 3-dione), but not by use of an NMDA or a membrane calcium antagonist; this fact shows the central position of the AMPA receptor in this model of injury (Li et al., 2003).

#### 3.5 Inflammation

Immediately following lesioning in the CNS, inflammatory cells migrate to the site of injury. Macrophages, T-cells, and neutrophils migrate from the periphery towards the lesion and are joined by activated astrocytes and microglia (Popovich et al., 1997, Bethea and Dietrich, 2002). Maximal infiltration of the inflammatory cells can be seen 3 to 7 days post-injury (Popovich et al., 1997). Following injury, the invading leukocytes take part in activating the inflammatory response in macrophages. Macrophages can be actively localized at the injury site, and their number starts to decline 7 days post-injury; at the primary SC lesion, microglia also are present for up to 2 to 4 weeks (Popovich et al., 1997). Neutrophil activation to the injury is rapid and starts to decline 48 h after injury (Taoka et al., 1997). Neutrophils and macrophages also contribute to the secondary damage by taking part in tissue destruction (Taoka et al., 1997, Gris et al., 2004). Primarily produced by macrophages and microglia, pro-inflammatory chemokines and cytokines (tumor necrosis factor (TNF); interleukin-1, -6, -10, and interferon) further provoke the damage (Bartholdi and Schwab, 1997, Klusman and Schwab, 1997). A vicious circle continues through induction of reactive oxygen, nitric oxide, and additional chemokines/cytokines (Bredt and Snyder, 1994, Xu et al., 2001). Over-expression of these toxic molecules further damages the SC, contributes to scar formation, and hampers axonal growth (Jones et al., 2002).

### **3.6 Apoptosis**

Programmed cell death is a natural process in the developing CNS (Blomgren et al., 2007). Premature cell death, also known as pathological apoptosis, is associated with many neurodegenerative disorders such as AD, PD, ALS, stroke, and brain and spinal cord trauma (Heidenreich, 2003, Ekshyyan and Aw, 2004). When damage occurs in the CNS, some cells die from direct necrosis, and others are programmed towards apoptosis. In many cases the necrotic part of the lesion can be larger than the part affected by pathological apoptosis. Necrosis is the dominant cell death mechanism within the ischemic lesion's core, whereas the role of apoptotic cell death is clearly greater within the penumbral region (Li et al., 1998). The temporal profile also differs, with necrosis more instant, but apoptosis continuing for days, even for weeks, and also affecting projecting pathways (Schwab and Bartholdi, 1996). Post-injury, apoptosis is activated by various stimuli and appears over the same time-spectrum as do the inflammatory processes. Among the toxins produced by inflammation are oxygen free radicals, mediating apoptosis by mitochondrial and DNA damage (Mabuchi et al., 2000). Apoptotic signalling can be caspase-dependent or independent. Caspase-dependent apoptosis is mostly stimulated through "death receptors" such as tumor necrosis factor receptors (TNFR) and Fas/CD95. These receptors are upregulated after SCI and traumatic brain injury (Casha et al., 2001, Keane et al., 2001), and FAS deficiency reduces post-traumatic apoptosis (Casha et al., 2005). This pathway towards apoptosis is also stimulated through mitochondrial damage and further activates caspase-3 (Springer et al., 1999). Apoptosis-inducing factor (AIF) is a caspaseindependent inducer of cell death released from the mitochondrial intermembrane in response to death stimuli (Joza et al., 2001). AIF causes chromatine condensation and DNA fragmentation in the cell nucleus through large DNA strands (Lorenzo et al., 1999, Susin et al., 1999). NMDA neurotoxicity, neurodegenerative disorders, and stroke itself activate a Ron Liebkind

nuclear enzyme called poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase-1 (PARP-1) (Zhang et al., 1994, Eliasson et al., 1997, Endres et al., 1997) which mediates AIF signalling (Yu et al., 2002).

Antiapoptotic treatment is a intriguing target for neuroprotective research, with some promising molecules proposed as having therapeutic properties in ischemic brain damage. After cerebral ischemia, erythropoietin, which reduces ischemic neuronal damage and neuronal dysfunction in rodent models of stroke (Sadamoto et al., 1998), prevents neuronal apoptosis (Siren et al., 2001). Another interesting intervention with potential clinical implications is the inhibition or inactivation of PARP-1 which leads to prevention of apoptotic cell death (Graziani and Szabo, 2005).

#### **4. REGENERATION**

In contrast to the PNS, where axonal regeneration is possible and can lead to functional recovery, axonal regeneration in the CNS is minimal, and functional loss is permanent. In the PNS, following axiotomy, Wallerian degeneration—describing degeneration of the distal part of the damaged axon—takes place. Thereafter, Schwann cells catabolize myelin, and macrophages are recruited to the injury site, participating in the removal of myelinand axonal debris. The remaining Schwann cells form guidance channels together with chemoattractive factors with which the degenerated axons can start a regenerative process through development of growth cones. Neuronal transformation into a regenerative mode involves many molecular steps such as gene activation, upregulation of cytoskeletal proteins, and outgrowth-stimulating factors (Johnson, 1993, Fu and Gordon, 1997).

CNS neurons do attempt to regenerate their damaged axons but usually end by degenerating; this failure to regenerate is now well-accepted as crucially influenced by inhibitory factors in their environment (Stichel and Muller, 1998).

28

#### **4.1 Hampering factors**

#### 4.1.1 Glial scar

Axonal regeneration (sprouting) and networking may be hampered by scar tissue which forms a mechanical barrier. After CNS injury, the scar consists of two areas, the lesion core and the surrounding zone (Reier and Houle, 1988). The core of the lesion, often considered as permitting no regeneration, is populated by vascular endothelial cells, meningeal fibroblasts, and oligodendrocyte precursors (OPCs). Surrounding the lesion are reactive astrocytes, microglia, and OPCs (Fawcett and Asher, 1999). Post-traumatically, after a few days, astrocytes become hypertrophic and up-regulate GFAP (Latov et al., 1979, Mathewson and Berry, 1985) and later in the formation of the glial scar proliferate towards the core of the lesion (Fawcett and Asher, 1999). Today, many inhibitory molecules produced by astrocytes are identified, and different experimental settings have shown their effects in hampering CNS regeneration (McGraw et al., 2001, Busch and Silver, 2007). Such molecules as Semaphorin 3 (Pasterkamp et al., 2001), ephrin-B2 (Bundesen et al., 2003), tenascin (Brodkey et al., 1995), and chondroitin sulphate proteoglycans (CSPGs) (Jones et al., 2003) are among the molecules upregulated after injury. The core proteins of the CSPGs are versican, neurocan, brevican, phosphacan, biglycan, aggrecan, and NG2 (Fawcett and Asher, 1999). These CSPGs are considered an important molecular group for inhibition in the glial scar; axons growing from transplanted dorsal root ganglion (DRG) stop at the site where CSPGs are expressed (Davies et al., 1999). The CSPGs localize around several different CNS injury models, appear a few days after injury, and continue to be expressed for weeks (Levine, 1994, Geisert et al., 1996). Not surprisingly, CSPGs are in vitro a poor substrate for neurons to grow neurites (Snow et al., 1990). After brain or spinal cord injury, regeneration of corticospinal or nigrostriatal tract axons can be promoted by digesting CSPGs with chondroitinase ABC (Moon et al., 2001, Bradbury et al., 2002). Interestingly, the sulphated glucosaminoglycan (GAG) chain of the CSPGs can bind to growth-promoting molecules such as laminin and thereby inhibit further regeneration (Smith-Thomas et al., 1995). Removal of the GAG chains from laminin allows promotion of neurite outgrowth (McKeon et al., 1995).

#### 4.1.2 Myelin inhibition

The inhibitory effect of oligodendrocytes, white matter, and myelin is due to their molecules that actively repel growing neurites (Schwab and Caroni, 1988). The myelin inhibitory molecules are considered the second major source of inhibitory molecules in CNS regeneration. When an injury occurs, myelin is disrupted locally and directly, since myelinbased inhibitory molecules are expressed by normal oligodendrocytes in the CNS. To identify an inhibitory myelin molecule, in rat SC, antibody IN-1 was isolated, and showed promise in regeneration in injured nerve fibers (Schnell and Schwab, 1990). IN-1 was later designated Nogo, with now at least three isoforms of Nogo known (Nogo-A, -B, -C), among which Nogo-A is the largest and is highly expressed in oligodendrocytes (Huber et al., 2002). Nogo-A has two main active parts, one specific for Nogo-A (Oertle et al., 2003) and another 66-amino-acid loop called Nogo-66 (Fournier et al., 2001) which is common to all Nogo proteins. Both these two inhibitory domains are exposed to the ECM (Oertle et al., 2003). The Nogo-66 domain inhibits neurite outgrowth through a receptor called NgR (Fournier et al., 2001). Other myelin-associated molecules that can inhibit axon growth, the myelin-associated glycoprotein and oligodendrocyte-myelin glycoprotein, also act through the NgR receptor (Domeniconi et al., 2002, Liu et al., 2002). Myelin-associated glycoprotein is a transmembrane glycoprotein with immunoglobulin-like domains first identified in CNS myelin (McKerracher et al., 1994) and is also present in PNS Schwann cells (Schachner and Bartsch, 2000). In embryonic mouse spinal cord, myelin-associated glycoprotein has also shown neurite outgrowth-promotive effects (Turnley and Bartlett, 1998). Oligodendrocyte-myelin glycoprotein is a membrane myelin protein expressed by oligodendrocytes in the CNS (Mikol et al., 1990).

### 4.2 Inducing factors

#### 4.2.1 Neurotrophins

Neurotrophins are molecules often linked to neuronal survival, differentation, and development. They consist of neuronal growth factor (NGF), brain-derived growth factor (BDNF), neurotrophin-3 (NT-3), neurothrophin-4/5 (NT-4/5), neurotrophin-6 (NT-6), and neurotrophin-7 (NT-7) (Lessmann et al., 2003). NGF, BDNF, NT-3, and NT4/5 have been characterized (Lu et al., 2005) in the mammalian brain as well as their receptors, the Trk family of receptor tyrosine kinases (TrkA, TrkB, TrkC) and the p75 neurotrophin receptor (p75NTR) (Dechant and Barde, 2002, Huang and Reichardt, 2003). Astrocytes in the CNS produce NGF, NT-3, and NT-4/5 (Yamakuni et al., 1987, Condorelli et al., 1995). After spinal cord injury in rats, the reactive astrocytes upregulate NGF and BDNF (Goto and Furukawa, 1995). These are important for axonal branching (McAllister et al., 1995, Gallo and Letourneau, 1998) and for establishing proper functional connections between neurons (McAllister et al., 1999). In the hippocampus, BDNF infusions enhance neurogenesis and formation of new granule cells (Scharfman et al., 2005).

#### 4.2.2 Other growth factors

Fibroblast growth factor-2 (FGF-2) is actively expressed by astrocytes (Sensenbrenner, 1993) and can be localized in the hippocampus, cerebral cortex, and spinal cord (Riva and Mocchetti, 1991). FGF enhances neurite growth and reduces gliosis in spinal cord grafts (Giacobini et al., 1991). Mixing FGF into a fibrin graft and placing it into a rat SC lesion model leads to regeneration of the corticospinal tract with improved levels of function (Cheng et al., 1996). FGF also stimulates proliferation of glial cells after contusive SCI (Zai et al., 2005). The viability of oligodendrocytes is potentiated by cytokines such as ciliary neurotrophic factor (CNTF) and leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF) (Kahn and De Vellis, 1994). In animal models, CNTF and LIF protect against demyelinisation and oligodendrocyte apoptosis in autoimmune encephalomyelitis (Butzkueven et al., 2002, Linker et al., 2002); they both are also detectable in CNS astrocytes (Stockli et al., 1991, Aloisi et al., 1994), and CNTF is upregulated after cortical lesions (Lee et al., 1997) and ischemia (Park et al., 2000). During remyelinization, insulin growth factor-1 (IGF-1) is upregulated in astrocytes (McMorris et al., 1993) and stimulates their proliferation (Tranque et al., 1992). In the developing optic nerve, IGF-1 acts as a survival factor for oligodendrocyte progenitor cells and oligodendrocytes (Barres et al., 1992) and is increased after ischemia (Gluckman et al., 1992).

The transforming growth factor- $\beta$ s (TGF- $\beta$ s) are a family of proteins with diversive CNS activities including neuroprotection (Grande, 1997). TGF- $\beta$ 1 activates a hypertrophic response in astrocytes, thereby upregulating GFAP (Laping et al., 1994). Astrocytic TGF- $\beta$ 1 increases as a response to other neurotrophins such as NGF, and is further autoinduced (Lindholm et al., 1990, da Cunha and Vitkovic, 1992, Morganti-Kossmann et al., 1992). TGF- $\beta$ 1 also induces the synthesis of ECM proteins such as type I collagen, fibronectin, and laminin (Baghdassarian et al., 1993).

#### 4.2.3 Laminin

Fetal sensory neurons with NGF added to the culture medium show the neurite outgrowth capacity of laminin-1 as a substrate. Laminin-1 shows enhancement in neurite growth without NGF, and can be suppressed with laminin antibodies (Baron-Van Evercooren et al., 1982). The axonal regrowth with laminin-1 added to culture wells, when further tested on neurons removed from different parts of the PNS and CNS, shows sensitive stimulation of neurite outgrowth (Manthorpe et al., 1983). In the PNS, Schwann cells in contact with axons produce laminin-1 on their surfaces (Cornbrooks et al., 1983). In the treatment of PNS injuries, the neurite outgrowth properties of laminin-1 have been used in the form of grafts implanted into the injury sites. Gel including laminin-1 enhances axonal growth through the transected sciatic nerve (Madison et al., 1987).

In the CNS, early cultured astrocytes produce laminin-1 (Liesi et al., 1983). Neurite outgrowth and attachment capacity in neurons from the postnatal rat brain (Liesi et al., 1984) and hippocampus (Lein et al., 1992) are stimulated by laminin-1. In vivo, laminin-1 is expressed by astrocytes in the rat olfactory bulb—known for its regenerational capacity—and in the frog brain where sectioning of the optic tract enhances expression of laminin-1 during regeneration (Liesi, 1985). Following an optic nerve crush in goldfish, laminin-1 is upregulated by optic nerve glia, and stimulates regeneration on retinal explants (Hopkins et al., 1985). Moreover, in the developing chick optic pathway, laminin-1 is expressed before axon growth is initiated and contributes to the pathfinding of the axons (Cohen et al., 1987). Laminin-1 is upregulated in the rat brain by astrocytes after KAinduced injury (Liesi et al., 1984), and lesions to the brain (Stichel and Muller, 1994) and to the spinal cord (Bernstein et al., 1985). In culture, CNS-derived myelin inhibition on neurons may be neutralized by laminin-1 (David et al., 1995). In the hippocampus, plasmin-catalyzed degradation of laminin-1 makes neurons more sensitive to excitotoxic cell death (Chen and Strickland, 1997).

In rats, expression of  $\gamma 1$  laminin in reactive astrocytes after spinal cord injury and surrounding the necrotic area after focal cerebral ischemia (Liesi and Kauppila, 2002) (IV) is interesting because of the theory of the regenerational capacity of  $\gamma 1$  laminin. Using a model to investigate laminin impact in hippocampal slice cultures, a lesion was made to the mossy fiber pathway, and results showed that a reduction in  $\gamma 1$  laminin at mRNA level in this region reduces the normal capacity of axonal regeneration (Grimpe et al., 2002). This study showed that the BM-independent  $\gamma 1$  laminin is crucial to regeneration of an axon tract in the mammalian CNS. In addition,  $\gamma 1$  laminin is proposed to maintain the critical role of the laminin layer in the hippocampus and protect neurons against excitotoxic cell death (Chen et al., 2003). In the PNS, as well, mutant mice with reduced expression of  $\gamma 1$  laminin and sciatic nerve damage show impaired peripheral axonal regeneration (Chen and Strickland, 2003).

#### 4.2.4 KDI peptide

The neurite outgrowth functions of  $\gamma 1$  laminin have been proposed to be carried out by a decapeptide (RDIAEIIKDI). Nanomolar concentrations of this decapeptide, located in the C-terminal of the  $\gamma 1$  chain, promote neurite outgrowth in organotypic cultures on both peripheral and central neurons (Liesi et al., 1989). This RDIAEIIKDI peptide also directs axonal growth in rat embryonic hippocampal neurons in cell culture (Matsuzawa et al., 1998) and participates in neuronal differentation (Matsuzawa et al., 1996). Using slice preparations of adult rat neocortex, intracellular recordings demonstrate that the decapeptide of  $\gamma 1$  laminin raises both the input resistance of the neuronal membrane and the excitability of pyramidal neurons (Hager et al., 1998). The decapeptide of  $\gamma 1$  laminin induces potassium currents in primary cultured cerebellar neurons, and the smallest peptide derived from it that is capable of inducing the same electrophysiological properties and supporting neurite outgrowth is the KDI tripeptide (Liesi et al., 2001). Since the decapeptide is neurotoxic in high concentrations, and these effects can be inhibited in cell culture by addition of pertussis toxin, an inhibitor of G-protein function, it is possible that the decapeptide of  $\gamma 1$ 

laminin can function also through a G-protein receptor-mediated mechanism (Liesi et al., 2001). In the developing human SC, KDI peptide is localized in the floor plate region where comissural axon guidance occurs (Wiksten et al., 2003). In matrigel culture systems, KDI also attracts axonal growth from SC explants (Wiksten et al., 2003). Local infusion of KDI peptide, shown by use of osmotic mini pumps in transected SC in rats, has also shown enhancement of neuronal regeneration and has improved the functional recovery after SCI (Wiksten et al., 2004).

# **AIMS OF THE STUDY**

The overall purpose of the project was to clarify the role of  $\gamma 1$  laminin and its KDI peptide in neuronal regeneration and further elucidate the role of laminins in the injured CNS. The specific aims were:

**I** To determine the possible regenerational effects of the KDI peptide on neuronal survival and neurite outgrowth in a culture system mimicking challenging environmental factors known to inhibit CNS regeneration.

**II** To determine whether the KDI peptide can protect hippocampal neurons against excitotoxic cell death caused by kainic acid.

**III** To determine the hypothesis of KDI peptide function, through the glutamate system, at cellular level by investigating glutamate receptors and electrophysiological responses.

**IV** To map the temporal and spatial distribution of laminins in the CNS of adult rats with permanent focal cerebral ischemia.

## **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

For more specific information on the experimental procedures please see the original publications (I), (II), (III), and (IV). All experiments were approved by the relevant authorities.

### Human CNS tissues (I), (III)

The human CNS tissues were collected with the permission of the donors from aborted 8to 10-week-old human fetuses in collaboration with the Maternity Hospital of the Helsinki University Central Hospital. Adult human spinal cord came from the Neurological Specimen Bank (Baltimore, MD, USA).

#### KDI peptide (I), (II), (III) and Kainic acid (II)

KDI peptide was synthetically manufactured as a C-terminal acid with a 95% purity level (Multiple Peptide Systems, La Jolla, CA, USA) and dissolved in deionized sterile water to a concentration of 10 mg/ml, from which it was further diluted to the concentration used. Kainic acid (Sigma, St. Louis, MO, USA) was diluted to 1mg/ml in 0.9% NaCl, and further diluted to the concentrations used.

### Human embryonic SC glia cultures (I)

Primary glial cell cultures were obtained by mechanical dissociation of human embryonic SC and cultured in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) (Gibco, Paisley, Scotland) with 10% fetal calf serum (Hyclone, Logan, UT, USA) and antibiotics. The cell lines were identified by 100% TUJ1 (Sigma) immunostaining, indicating that the glial cells were precursors of astrocytes; 10 to 20% of these cells were also positive to GFAP (Sigma) immunostaining, and no oligodendrocyte-like cells were detected, thus indicating that most of the cells were precursors of astrocytes.
#### Experimental culture system I: Glial injury (I)

Human embryonic glial cells were replated on glass coverslips and cultured to confluent monolayers. The monolayers were injured with a 18-G needle, and the culture medium was changed to 10% normal adult human serum in DMEM (Gibco). KDI peptide (Multiple Peptide Systems) was added in different concentrations to the culture medium, and dissociated cells from human embryonic neocortex, retina, and SC were added to the coverslips. After 72 hrs, the cultures were fixed with 2% paraformaldehyde in PBS (Sigma) for 15 min. Survival of neurons and length of neurites on the injured glial cells was evaluated by counting TUJ1-positive neurons and their TUJ1-positive neurites. The number of neurons was counted on ten random fields on six different coverslips. The amount of long neurites from all neurons was counted from six coverslips in each experimental group. For statistical evaluation, one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used.

#### Embryonal bodies of human CNS (I)

Embryonal SC and neocortex containing immature stem cells was mechanically dissociated and cultured in Neurobasal medium (Gibco) with B27 supplement (Gibco), glutamine, and antibiotics. Failing to attach to the petri dish surface, the embryonal bodies grew in aggregates, releasing new bodies and increasing in size.

#### Experimental culture system II: Myelin inhibition (I)

Adult human SC sections (10 µm) were cut on slides and placed in sterile Quadriperm plates (In Vitro Systems and Services, Göttingen, Germany) with DMEM culture medium (Gibco), 10% human serum, and antibiotics. Various concentrations of KDI peptide (Multiple Peptide Systems) were added to the culture medium. Embryonal bodies were placed on top of the white matter of the SC sections and cultured for 10 days before fixation. Immunostaining of neurofilament proteins and glial cells identified the neurites and cells of the embryonal bodies. Evaluation of the neurites growing out from the embryonal bodies on top of the white matter was done by counting neurites of each slide and was analyzed with a nonparametric Mann-Whitney test.

Ron Liebkind

#### Antibodies for immunocytochemistry (I), (II), (III), (IV)

For immunohistochemical detection of antibodies, various isoforms of laminins were used: rabbit polyclonal antibodies to identify  $\alpha 1$ -5,  $\beta 1$ -3, and  $\gamma 1$ -2 laminins (II, IV). Laminin-1 was detected by use of polyclonal antibodies against biochemically purified EHS-tumor laminin (II, IV). To detect the neurite outgrowth-promoting peptide of  $\gamma 1$  laminin (KDI), a polyclonal rabbit antibody raised against KLH-coupled (keyhole limpet hemocyanin) 6 amino-acid peptide (EIIKDI) was used (IV). Antibodies pre-absorbed with their respective peptide antigens or pre-immune sera of each rabbit used for immunizing served as controls (II, IV). All control experiments were negative.

Mouse monoclonal antibodies against neuron-specific  $\beta$  tubulin (TUJ1, Sigma) served to detect neurons, dendrites, and axons (I). TUJ1 also served as a marker for early glial cells (I). Mouse monoclonal antibodies against the glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP, Sigma) served for detection of astrocytes and radial glial fibers (I, II, IV).

Rabbit polyclonal antibodies against different glutamate subunit proteins AMPA (GluR1, GluR2/3, GluR4), kainate (GluR5, GluR6/7, KA2), and NMDA (NR1, NR2A, NR2B) (Upstate, Lake Placid, NY, USA) showed the expression of these glutamate subunit receptors (III).

## Immunocytochemistry on sectioned rat brain (II), (IV)

Brains from decapitated adult male Wistar rats were sectioned. For paraffin sections (II), the brains were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS, Sigma) for 12 hrs at +4°C. The brains were then washed in PBS for 48 hrs before being embedded in paraffin wax. The serial sections were cut in the coronal plane through the hippocampus and stained with hematoxylin-eosin (II).

For immunocytochemistry of laminins and glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) in rat brain, the brains were frozen in powdered dry ice: 10 days after stereotaxic injections (II) or following the variable post-ischemia time periods (IV). The sections were fixed in 0.4% para-benzoquinine (Fluka, Buchs, Switzerland) in PBS for 15 min at +4°C. The sections were then rinsed in PBS before dehydration and rehydration in a series of al-cohols. Fixed sections were incubated overnight in normal goat serum (1:30 dilution in PBS; Sigma). Antibodies against the various isoforms of laminins were applied, and incu-

bation was for 24 hrs at +4°C. The sections were then rinsed in PBS and incubated with fluorescein isothiocyanate-coupled goat antirabbit immunoglobulins (FITC; Cappel, Cochranville, PA, USA) for 1 hr at room temperature (RT). For double-staining, the sections were incubated further with mouse monoclonal antibodies overnight at +4°C. Mouse monoclonal antibodies against GFAP served to identify reactive astrocytes. The sections were rinsed and exposed to goat anti-mouse immunoglobulins coupled to tetramethylrhodamine isothiocyanate (TRITC; Cappel) for 1 hr at RT. The sections were rinsed in PBS and mounted in PBS:glycerol (1:1) for microscopic analysis.

#### Immunocytochemistry on cultured neurons (I), (III)

The neurons were fixed in 2% paraformaldehyde/PBS for 15 min at RT and permeabilized with cold (-20°C) methanol for 5 min. In experimental culture system I (I), immunoreactivity for  $\beta$ -tubulin (TUJ1) served to identify and visualize neurons along with their long neurites. The antibody was incubated for 1 hr at RT. After being rinsed with PBS, the cultures were exposed to goat anti-mouse immunoglobulins coupled to fluorescein isothiocy-anate-coupled goat-antirabbit immunoglobulins (FITC; Cappel) for 30 min at RT. The coverslips were then rinsed and mounted in PBS:glycerol (1:1) (I).

Immunocytochemistry on human embryonic neocortical neurons cultured for 14 to 30 days on a poly-D-lysine substratum (10µg/ml; Collaborative Research, Bedford, MA, USA) was used to demonstrate the expression of glutamate receptors (IV). After fixation with 2% paraformaldehyde/PBS the cultures were treated with 0.05% Tween-20/PBS for 30 min at RT. Incubation with rabbit polyclonal antibodies against proteins representing different receptor subunits of AMPA (GluR1, GluR2/3, GluR4), kainate (GluR5, GluR6/7, KA2), and NMDA (NR1, NR2A, NR2B) (Upstate) was done for 1 hr at RT. After being rinsed with PBS, the cultures were exposed to goat anti-rabbit immunoglobulins coupled to FITC (Cappel) for 30 min at RT. The coverslips were then rinsed and mounted (IV).

Ron Liebkind

#### **Stereotaxic injections (II)**

In adult male Wistar rats anesthetized with 3.5% chloral hydrate (350 mg/kg intraperitoneally), stereotaxic coordinates were used for the right side of the hippocampus (Paxinos and Watson 1986). First, an injection of the KDI solution (1µl at 100 or 500 µg/ml concentrations) or NaCl (1µl) was given over a time-period of 5 min and followed by a second injection of kainic acid (1µl at 1µg/µl, Sigma) or NaCl (1µl). To prevent backflow, a pause of 5 min occurred after the second injection. The tissue-spreading of the injected solutions was determined by injections of methylene blue. The animals were decapitated by guillotine and the brains removed. Tissue damage from injected NaCl + kainic acid, KDI + kainic acid, and NaCl + NaCl was determined at the injection site by light microscopy and evaluated by assigning lesion points depending on extent of damage.

#### Whole-cell patch-clamp recordings (III)

Human neocortical neuronal cultures were placed under a microscope for patch-clamp recordings. Neurons were continuously superfused with an external solution at RT. During the recordings, the cells were whole cell-voltage clamped at -60 mV. The drugs were diluted in the external solution and applied to the cells with a three-channel stepper motordriven fast-application system (Warner Instrument, Hamden, CT, USA). The test drugs, laminin-1 and laminin peptides, were first preapplied to cells, followed by a coapplication of the agonists: L-glutamate, concanavalin A (Sigma), SYM 2081, NMDA (Tocris, Avonmouth, UK) and test drugs. The current recordings were done with an Axopatch 200B amplifier and analyzed with pClamp 8.0 software (Axon Instruments Inc., Foster City, CA, USA).

Human embryonic kidney cells (HEK 293 cells) were cultured and transfected with recombinant GluR4 (AMPA) and GluR6 (kainate) receptor subunit cDNA clones in order to improve kainate current recordings and to compare the AMPA currents measured in neocortical neurons.

#### Focal cerebral ischemia (IV)

All rats were adult male Wistar rats anesthetized with ketamine hydrochloride and medetomidine hydrochloride. Based on the suture occlusion model (Takano et al., 1997), permanent focal cerebral damage was induced. Through a ventral midline incision, the right common carotid artery (CCA) and the right external carotid artery were uncovered, and a 4-0 nylon monofilament suture (Ethilon Nylon Suture, Ethicon Inc., Somerville, NJ, USA) with a coated silicone tip (Bayer, Leverkusen, Germany) was inserted into the right CCA via an arteriectomy approximately 3 mm below the right carotid bifurcation. Advancing the suture along the internal carotid artery approximately 17 mm above the carotid bifurcation allowed it to be lodged into the anterior cerebral artery, occluding the orifice of the middle cerebral artery and the posterior communicating artery. The control animals (sham operated) were exposed to the same procedures, except that the suture was inserted only 10 mm above the carotid bifurcation and withdrawn one minute later. The animals with permanent middle cerebral artery occlusion (MCAO) were divided into 1-, 2-, 3-, 7-, 14-, and 28-day groups according to their post-ischemic time-periods before cardiac perfusion. Following the various post-ischemic periods, the rats received 120 mg of sodium pentobarbital (Mebunat, Orion Company, Finland), and cardiovascular perfusion was executed with 200 ml of ice-cold 0.9% saline (Liu et al., 2001). The brains were removed, frozen in fine dry ice, and stored at -70°C for further investigation.

# RESULTS

#### 1. Effects of KDI peptide in experimental culture systems (Study I)

An experimental culture system (I) was designed to test effects of the KDI peptide on neurons in an environment with damaged glial cells. It was tested on neurons from human embryonic retina, spinal cord (SC), and neocortex, all plated on top of injured SC glial cells. Neurons plated without KDI peptide on the damaged glial cells showed poor neurite outgrowth. Adding KDI peptide to the culture medium in low concentrations of 0.035 to 1.0  $\mu$ g/ml improved both neurite outgrowth and neuron survival. Neurons of SC origin preferred lower concentrations of KDI peptide (0.035-0.1  $\mu$ g/ml) in terms of long neurites and number of viable neurons in comparison to neocortical neurons requiring higher KDI concentrations (0.1-1.0  $\mu$ g/ml). Long neurites and survival of retinal neurons showed the best effect at a KDI concentration 0.1  $\mu$ g/ml.

An experimental culture system (II) was designed to test the effect of KDI peptide on axonal growth on damaged myelin sheets. Its effect was tested by using embryonal bodies planted on top of sectioned SC. The embryonal bodies were placed on the white matter of the spinal cord and were thereby in direct contact with the underlying cross-sectioned myelin sheets known to prevent neurite regeneration. Neurites were visible growing inside the embryonal bodies but were unable to grow on top of the CNS myelin. Addition of KDI peptide (5-10  $\mu$ g/ml) to the culture medium enabled outgrowth of neurites on top of the SC white matter, with long neurites extending from the embryonal bodies visible.

#### 2. Protection against KA-induced hippocampal damage (Study II)

Hippocampal damage in rats resulted from stereotaxic injections of KA, and the effects of pre-injected KDI peptide on this damage showed that the unilateral injection of KA caused severe tissue damage visualized in hematoxylin-eosin (HE)-stained brain sections. The tissue damage left cavities around the injection site of the hippocampus and neocortex, and

sections stained for GFAP showed gliosis around the areas of destruction. Animals treated with pre-injections of KDI peptide (100  $\mu$ g/ml) showed, however, less tissue damage around the hippocampal areas than in KA-injected animals but was unable to protect the neocortical areas. A higher dose of KDI peptide (500  $\mu$ g/ml) was able to protect the hippocampal and neocortical areas, so that destroyed tissue appeared only around the immediate area of injection. Reactive gliosis was visible in the ipsilateral hippocampal and neocortical areas in animals treated with the higher dose of KDI before KA-induced injury. Injections of NaCl + NaCl resulted in increased gliosis around the injection track. Sections stained with GFAP showed more gliosis in KDI peptide (500  $\mu$ g/ml) + KA-treated animals than did KDI peptide (500  $\mu$ g/ml) + NaCl or NaCl + NaCl-injected animals. Tissue damage was quantified by lesion points at the injection site by visual scoring of the extent of the injury, and showed that preinjection of KDI peptide (500  $\mu$ g/ml) was able to protect both hippocampal and neocortical tissue from KA-induced damage, even though the tissue at the immediate injection site showed signs of injury.

Kainic acid injections caused neocortical and hippocampal tissue degradation also on the contralateral side of the brain sections. Expression of  $\gamma 1$  laminin on the contralateral side of the hippocampus 10 days after NaCl + kainic acid injections showed reactive astrocytes in the CA1-layer but no immunoreactive neurons. Animals injected with KDI peptide (500 µg/ml) + KA into the CA1-layer of the ipsilateral hippocampus showed  $\gamma 1$ laminin-immunopositive neurons protecting them from KA damage. At the very site of the injection, the animals treated with KDI peptide (500 µg/ml) had a gap area lacking  $\gamma 1$ laminin-positive neurons and showed only immunoreactive glial fibers. Similarly, a negative gap in immunoreactivity appeared in the expression of laminin-1 in the CA1 layer of the hippocampus. Laminin-1 expression showed an increase at the injection area of the neocortex, and accumulation of laminin-1 punctate deposits were visible, indicating laminin-1 degradation. These laminin-1 deposits were absent from the KDI-treated brain sections. Ron Liebkind

#### 3. Glutamate receptor inhibition by KDI peptide (Study III)

KA takes part in excitotoxic cell death through glutamate receptors. Since KDI peptide injection was able to protect against KA-induced tissue damage in rat brain (II), we studied the possible interactions of KDI with glutamate receptor function by using immunocytochemistry and patch clamp recording.

Immunocytochemistry on human embryonic neocortical neurons showed expression of several different glutamate receptor proteins. AMPA receptor subunit GluR1 expression was strongest in cell bodies; GluR2/3 expression occurred along neurites and cell bodies; and GluR4 immunoreactivity was homogeneous along both neurites and cell bodies. Kainate subunit immunoreactivity was expressed in GluR5 as punctate deposits along the neurites; GluR6/7 was detected along the more mature-looking pyramidal neurons; and KA2 receptor immunoreactivity along both neurites and cell bodies. NMDA receptor subunit immunoreactivity was seen in NR1 as a patchy expression along neurites, and both NR2A and NR2B showed weaker expression, mainly in the cell bodies of the neurons. Therefore, NMDA heterodimeric receptor proteins NR1/NR2A and NR1/NR2B were expressed by the cultured neurons.

Application of glutamate to the cultured neocortical neurons under conditions that inhibit NMDA receptors produced a fast desensitizing current that was mediated primarily through AMPA receptors, since application of a selective kainate receptor agonist (SYM 2081 together with concavalin A) produced only a small, insignificant current. Immunocytochemically, kainate-receptor subunits were evident, but here, neocortical neurons failed to express functioning kainate receptor currents. Inhibition of the AMPA current by pre- and co-application of KDI peptide (0.1-10  $\mu$ g/ml) was detected as dose-dependent, washable, and reproducible. In comparison to laminin-1, and the decapeptide of  $\gamma$ 1 laminin (RDIAEIIKDI), which also showed effective AMPA receptor inhibition, the KDI peptide was more efficient and showed a higher precentage of inhibition. Peptides from  $\beta$ 1 laminin (CDPGYIGSR) and  $\beta$ 2 laminin (LRE) did not affect the AMPA receptor currents. KDI peptide inhibition of AMPA receptor currents was seen as dose-dependent, and a concentration of 0.1  $\mu$ g/ml showed 50% inhibition (IC50). Half the maximal effective concentration (EC50) of glutamate yielded values of 2.5 and 1.9 mM in the absence and presence of KDI peptide, indicating the noncompetitive nature of this inhibition. The KDI peptide pre-

application time needed for maximal inhibition was measured as short ( $62 \pm 22$  msec), and coapplication with glutamate produced lower inhibition of AMPA currents.

NMDA receptor currents measured from neocortical cell cultures were also inhibited by KDI peptide (0.1-10  $\mu$ g/ml) by 25 to 50%.

Kainate receptor currents were undetectable in human neocortical neurons, although immunocytochemistry showed their expression. Human embryonic kidney cells (HEK 293 cells) transfected with the recombinant GluR6 receptor subunit were used to study the effects of the KDI peptide on kainate receptor currents. The kainate currents were sensitive to KDI peptide inhibition, showing a IC50 at 0.1  $\mu$ g/ml and almost a total inhibition at 10  $\mu$ g/ml. HEK cells transfected with GluR4 AMPA receptors and human neocortical neurons were equally sensitive to the KDI peptide.

## 4. Distribution of laminins in focal cerebral ischemia (Study IV)

Permanent MCAO was performed in adult rats in order to map the temporal and spatial expression of laminins associated with ischemic brain damage. All animals with right MCAO had left-sided hemiparesis after the operation in comparison to sham-operated rats, which showed no neurologic deficits.

Laminin-1 was expressed in sham-operated rats in vascular basement membrane structures symmetrically on both sides of the brain hemispheres; 24 h after ischemia laminin-1 was expressed in neurons and vascular basement membrane structures of the ischemic region, and 2 to 3 days after ischemia the vascular basement membranes expressed laminin-1 but with no immunoreactive neurons visible. Seven days after MCAO, however, a large necrosis area was detectable, with laminin-1-positive basement structures and scar-forming extracellular matrix (ECM). And 14 and 28 days after ischemic brain damage, the laminin-1-positive necrotic area was clearly visible as immunoreactive matrix and punctate deposition.

In the ventrolateral parts of the brain,  $\gamma 1$  laminin was already expressed 24 h after MCAO in reactive astrocytes surrounding the ischemic area, and at 2 to 3 days a  $\gamma 1$  laminin-positive belt of glial cells formed. At 24 h, immunoreactive astrocytes appeared inside the ischemic regions, and also  $\gamma 1$  laminin-positive neuronal cell bodies and dendrites of pyramidal neurons were detectable. At 7, 14, and 28 days, reactive astrocytes

heavily expressing  $\gamma 1$  laminin surrounded the necrotic area, separating it from the rest of the brain. Here, no neuronal  $\gamma 1$  laminin immunoreactivity was detectable. In the contralateral intact brain hemisphere, normal, mainly neuronal expression of  $\gamma 1$  laminin was evident and was similar to that in the sham-operated rats.

KDI peptide was expressed, in a similar manner to that of  $\gamma 1$  laminin, intensely in glial cells between the intact brain and the ischemic regions. Additionally, KDI immunoreactivity was visible along the major neuronal pathways such as the corpus callosum and in the fiber areas close to the ischemic regions.

Laminins  $\alpha 1$ ,  $\alpha 2$ ,  $\alpha 5$ , and  $\gamma 2$  were induced in reactive astrocytes surrounding the ischemic infarct areas, differing in their expression patterns and from the expression of  $\gamma 1$  laminin. Three days after infarction, expression of laminins  $\alpha 1$  and  $\alpha 5$  was induced in dendrites of the pyramidal cells inside the ischemic area in comparison to the contralateral side, which lacked any such immunoreactivity.

# DISCUSSION

#### Functional properties of the KDI peptide

The exact molecular mechanisms of the neuroprotective effects of KDI peptide remain unknown even though many studies elucidate its neuroprotective effects, and it seems fair to claim that the KDI peptide probably has several mechanisms of action. Its neuroprotective potential against CNS trauma, SC injury (Wiksten et al., 2004), and injuries induced by neurotoxins (II) (Väänänen et al., 2006), in concert with its promotion of neurite outgrowth and neuronal survival (I), indicates different functional pathways. Evidence that the KDI peptide protects hippocampal tissue from KA, that it takes part in excitotoxic cell death through glutamate receptors, points toward a possible interaction between the glutamate system and the KDI peptide (II). Indeed, patch clamp recordings show that the KDI peptide is capable of inhibiting the ionotrophic glutamate receptors NMDA, AMPA, and kainate in a dose-dependent and non-competitive manner, with a 50% inhibition of the NMDA receptors and almost a complete inhibition of kainate and AMPA receptors (III).

Experiments defining the shortest active sequence of the decapeptide RDI-AEIIKDI showed, by patch clamp recordings, that the KDI peptide induces potassium currents through a G-protein coupled mechanism in rat cerebellar neurons (Liesi et al., 2001). The outward rectifying currents may enhance neuronal survival by inhibiting repeated depolarizations and reducing  $Ca^{2+}$  influx into the neurons. The decapeptide RDIAEIIKDI has also been shown to have a dual neurotoxic/neurotrophic role: When it is applied in high amounts to neurons, a neurotoxic effect results, a neurotoxic effect that can be attenuated by pertussis toxin, which inhibits the potassium current caused by the decapeptide (Liesi et al., 2001). When the concentration of the KDI peptide increases from the optimal concentration inducing neuronal survival and neurite outgrowth, interestingly, a reduction in these neuroregenerative functions also is noticeable (I).

Through integrin  $\beta$ 1 signalling and activation of the PI3-kinase/Akt pathway, laminin enhances resistance to glutamate-induced apoptosis in embryonic hippocampal neurons (Gary and Mattson, 2001). Intriguingly, a peptide (EIKLLIS) derived from the  $\alpha$ chain of laminin also protects hippocampal neurons from apoptosis induced by glutamate, and enhances Akt activity in a similar manner (Gary et al., 2003). A recent report suggests that intracellular pathways stimulating neuronal survival and neurite outgrowth in DRG neurons (PI3-kinase/Akt- and MEK/MAPK-pathway) are induced by simultaneous stimulation of both laminin and NGF, suggesting that collaboration of integrin and neurothrophin signalling is essential in DRG neuron regeneration (Tucker et al., 2008). Concerning KDI function, when discussing integrin signalling and laminin binding, what should be noted is that even though the KDI peptide shows laminin-like effects on neurite outgrowth, laminins are not known to bind integrins via the C terminus of  $\gamma$ 1 laminin. It is therefore possible that KDI peptide function may also involve laminin receptor stimulation. More importantly, due to the size and specific functions of the KDI peptide and other lamininderived peptides, they should be investigated according to their own specific functions and not be considered identical in function to the large laminin-1 molecule. In contrast, regarding functions of the laminin protein, the active peptides derived from laminin-1 provide important information.

These findings supporting the neurotrophic properties of the KDI peptide indicate involvement of a more classical receptor stimulation. Laminin receptors, 67kDa,  $\alpha$ dystroglycan, and integrins may be potential targets for activation involving secondary messenger systems and thereby may take part in axonal outgrowth and neural regeneration.

#### Laminin and the KDI peptide in neural regeneration

Laminin-1 is known to be a promoter of neuritic regeneration (Manthorpe et al., 1983). Its regenerative function has been mapped in the C-terminus of  $\gamma$ 1 laminin to the decapeptide RDIAEIIKDI (Liesi et al., 1989) and from there, more specifically to the KDI tripeptide (Liesi et al., 2001). It has been proposed that  $\gamma$ 1 laminin plays an important role in the guidance of commissural axons in the developing human spinal cord (Wiksten et al., 2003). In the lesioned postnatal rat, the hippocampal mossy fiber, an inhibition of  $\gamma$ 1 laminin, mRNA translation leads to a clear reduction in regeneration, and when inhibition ceases, regeneration capacity is restored (Grimpe et al., 2002). Matrigel culture experiments show that axons from dorsal embryonic spinal cord prefer to grow axons towards the KDI peptide-containing matrix (Wiksten et al., 2003) indicating that the KDI peptide may serve as a chemoattractant for these neurons. Since laminin-1 overrides myelin-

derived inhibitory effects on neurite outgrowth (David et al., 1995), we tested the effects of the KDI peptide in a environment hostile toward neuronal survival and neurite outgrowth.

Environmental factors that prevent spinal cord regeneration after injury are mainly the formation of a glial scar and myelin-derived inhibition (see 4.1.1 and 4.1.2) and therefore serve as an example in the experimental culture settings (I).

In two different experimental culture systems mimicking spinal cord injury, the KDI peptide attenuated the glia-derived and myelin-derived inhibitory signals and provided a better substrate for neuronal survival and neurite outgrowth. Both viability and neuronal outgrowth were improved by addition of KDI peptide to the culture medium, regardless of the CNS origin of the cultured neurons used. Neurons derived from human embryonic spinal cord, neocortex, and retina reacted somewhat differently to the KDI peptide applied. Spinal cord neurons preferred a lower concentration of KDI peptide than did neocortical neurons for optimal neurite outgrowth and survival (I). This fact indicates that application of KDI in vitro supports neurons to overcome inhibition and grow axons on adverse surfaces such as injured glial cells and the white matter of the spinal cord (I).

The in vitro results supporting the KDI peptide as a regenerative factor in CNS injury led to in vivo experiments on spinal cord injury and kainic-acid induced injury in rats. Following complete transection of rat spinal cord, KDI peptide was applied directly to the area of injury through osmotic mini-pumps. The KDI-treated animals showed improvement in motor-scoring and were able to support their weight using their hind legs, in comparison to the paralyzed control animals. Immunohistochemistry showed improvement in regeneration of the damaged neural tracts (Wiksten et al., 2004). Aside from its possible stimulating effects on axonal regeneration, the KDI peptide may enhance regeneration by affecting inhibitory environmental factors and thereby supporting neuronal survival and axonal growth. Interestingly, in KDI-treated spinal cord injury, both scar- and cyst-formation was reduced (Wiksten et al., 2004), possibly promoting the ability of axons to overcome inhibition and giving neurons a more beneficial environment in which to regenerate.

Study 1 used an in vitro model to mimic the major inhibitory signals against regeneration caused by SCI. Since no established in vitro model for this purpose was available, we developed a novel model of our own, where myelin inhibitory molecules primarily produced by oligodendrocytes were represented in one experimental setting and the astroglial glial scar in another. When planning in vitro experiments aiming to test SCI, many aspects should be taken into consideration since the cellular and molecular incidents following CNS damage in vivo are numerous and could hardly all be tested simultaneously in one single experimental setting. Here in Study 1, our goal was to test the effect of the KDI peptide added to the culture media as the external source, and we designed the in vitro experiment to test its effect on neuronal viability and axonal growth on damaged astroglia and myelin sheets.

Regeneration might also be stimulated by reducing the molecular constituents of the glial scar, as seen in Study II. Reactive gliosis (II) and cyst formation (Wiksten et al., 2004) was reduced by KDI peptide, but this claim should be considered speculative since our experiments do not provide any such direct evidence.

#### The KDI peptide and CNS protection

The protection provided by the KDI peptide against hippocampal injections of kainic acid is interesting. Since KA, a glutamate analogue, is known to mediate excitotoxicity through glutamate receptors, the protective effects of KDI against this neurotoxin indicates a link between the laminins and the glutamate system. Hippocampal neurons from the CA1-CA3 region exert a high concentration of ionotropic glutamate receptors and are particularly vulnerable to KA (Ben-Ari, 1985). KA has also been associated with neurodegenerative disorders (Fahn and Sulzer, 2004), CNS trauma (Arundine and Tymianski, 2004), and neuronal death (Ben-Ari and Cossart, 2000).

A pre-injection of KDI peptide (500  $\mu$ g/ml) was able to protect the hippocampal tissue against KA injections, leaving only a small destroyed area around the exact point of the injection. Animals pre-treated with NaCl injections showed severe destruction of hippocampal and neocortical tissue due to KA neurotoxic injections (II). Intact hippocampal neurons express  $\gamma$ 1 laminin (Hager et al., 1998), and this expression is reduced by KA (Indyk et al., 2003). Similarly, in our experiments following NaCl + KA injections, expression of  $\gamma$ 1 laminin in the contralateral hippocampus showed reactive astrocytes in the CA1layer but no immunoreactive neurons. At the very site of injection, the animals treated with KDI peptide (500  $\mu$ g/ml) had a gap area lacking  $\gamma$ 1 laminin-positive neurons, and showing only immunoreactive glial fibers (II).

Tissue plasminogen activator (tPA) and its substrate plasminogen are associated with excitotoxic neuronal degeneration in the hippocampus. Deficiency of tPA or

plasminogen induces resistance against neuronal death caused by KA (Tsirka et al., 1997). Extracellular plasmin generation that could promote neuronal death is interesting to examine from a substrate point of view, since laminin cleavage may promote neuronal degeneration. Interestingly, laminin is normally expressed in the hippocampus but cannot be detected after KA injections, and its disappearance occurs just before neuronal cell death occurs (Chen and Strickland, 1997). Neuronal degeneration can be inhibited by tPAdeficiency or infusion of a plasmin inhibitor that also inhibits laminin degradation; in contrast, excitotoxic sensitivity can be restored in tPA-deficient mice by infusion of antilaminin antibodies (Chen and Strickland, 1997). Disruption of the laminin hippocampal matrix by infusion of soluble laminin-1 or anti- $\gamma$ 1 laminin antibodies sensitizes neurons to KA-induced cell death (Chen et al., 2003). These results further establish the importance of the laminin matrix and y1 laminin in regard to excitotoxic cell death, degradation of laminin, and neuronal survival. Fragments of degraded laminin, due to plasmin induction after KA injections, may have functional effects on surrounding cells. Naturally, of interest here would be a hypothetical KDI peptide that could be detected as a peptide sequence following degradation of laminin. Since KA injection induces laminin degradation and neuronal death, the protective effect of the KDI peptide is not liberated, possibly because of either excessive proteolytic degradation or of incomplete fragmentation.

Following injections of the neurotoxin 6-hydroxy-dopamine (6-OHDA) to the rat substantia nigra (SN), the KDI peptide has also shown protective effects on dopaminergic neurons (Väänänen et al., 2006). 6-OHDA is a dopamine analogue that forms reactive oxygen species inhibiting the mitochondrial electron transfer chain that leads to dopaminergic neuronal death and neuronal tissue degeneration (Schober, 2004). This neurotoxin is used to induce PD in rodents (Schober, 2004), but through its mechanism of action, it can also be viewed as an inductor of oxidative stress. Therefore, the protective effect of the KDI peptide against 6-OHDA-induced neurotoxicity and oxidative stress provides a new perspective on KDI neuronal protection that still needs to be further elucidated. One possible mechanism of protection may be through KDI inhibition of the glutamate receptors (III), since simultaneous glutamate excitation and 6-OHDA dopamine receptor activation may lead to the neuronal overexcitation, causing neuronal death.

In Study II, the damage caused by KA is dramatic and if applied in lower amounts the neurotoxic solution could test other more neurotropic effects of laminins and KDI because of the less damaging environment. Since other possible molecular pathways of the KDI peptide remain to be revealed, a less damaging environment could be of value here. However, we preferred to use high doses in order to reach the "proof of principle" point. The ability to protect neurons against oxidative stress caused by 6-OHDA is shared with neurotrophins, and the mechanism remains unclear. Moreover, the resistance against KA-induced neurotoxicity in tPA-deficient mice and their unaffected laminin degradation calls for further studies that could elucidate other molecular mechanisms that stimulate neuronal viability.

The neuroprotective potential of the KDI peptide is strengthened by findings regarding its ability to inhibit ionotrophic glutamate receptors. The application of KDI peptide to neocortical neurons has shown in patch clamp recordings almost a complete inhibition of AMPA and kainate receptors and a 50% inhibition of NMDA receptors (III), providing evidence for a direct interaction between the KDI peptide and the glutamate system. The receptor inhibition was non-competitive and dose-dependent. Both laminin-1 and the decapeptide RDAEIIKDI of  $\gamma$ 1 laminin also showed an inhibition of AMPA receptor currents but were less efficient than the KDI peptide (III). The acid form of the decapeptide of  $\gamma$ 1 laminin and of KDI peptide is each a more efficient antagonist of glutamate receptors then is the amide form of each (III), indicating that they would be effective even if cleaved by proteolysis from the laminin-1 molecule.

These results indicate that a matrix protein or its fragments cannot only mediate its functions indirectly through cell-matrix signaling cascades but can interact directly with neurons through glutamate receptors. To the best of our knowledge, no previous studies have shown such direct electrophysiological receptor interaction, even though laminin has been shown to play a role in inwardly rectifying potassium channel aggregation in hippocampal cultures (Guadagno and Moukhles, 2004) and in direct binding to voltage-gated calcium channels in mouse motor neurons (Nishimune et al., 2004).

The induced glial cell expression of laminin-1 (Liesi et al., 1984, Bernstein et al., 1985) and  $\gamma$ 1 laminin in pathological conditions such as SC trauma (Liesi and Kauppila, 2002), ischemic stroke (IV), or AD (Palu and Liesi, 2002) may have a protective effect on their surrounding neurons even though insufficient for neuronal tissue survival.

#### Laminins in ischemic stroke

Study of laminins in an experimental stroke model revealed that laminin-1,  $\gamma 1$  laminin, and its KDI tripeptide were expressed in reactive astrocytes in the transitional zone between the ischemic regions of necrosis and the rest of the brain. The reactive astrocytes also expressed  $\alpha 1$ ,  $\alpha 2$ ,  $\alpha 5$ ,  $\beta 1$ ,  $\beta 3$ , and  $\gamma 2$  laminin, but only  $\gamma 1$  laminin appeared visible in these cells specifically isolating the ischemic region as early as 24 h after stroke. Persistent in the actual infarct area, only laminin-1 was expressed 28 days after ischemic insult, whereas the other laminin subtypes were detected then mainly in glial cells in the vicinity of the infarction. Due to their differing spatial and temporal expression patterns, laminin-1 and  $\gamma 1$ laminin are interesting when discussing the involvement of laminins in the pathophysiology of stroke.

Expression of  $\gamma 1$  laminin and the KDI peptide by reactive astrocytes at the boundary of the ischemic brain region may be a protective measure or an epiphenomenon. However, since laminin-1 and  $\gamma$ 1 laminin induction in glial cells occurs following various mechanical and chemical insults to the brain (Liesi et al., 1984)(II)(Wiksten et al., 2004), the protective hypothesis is the primary option. In this sense, what is noticeable is that in regenerating CNS tissues such as the mammalian olfactory bulb, astrocytes express laminin-1 (Liesi, 1985). The possible protective expression of  $\gamma 1$  laminin and KDI peptide following ischemic brain damage is supported by evidence that in rats the KDI peptide protects against mechanical SCI (Wiksten et al., 2004) and reduces neurotoxic damage caused by the glutamate analogue KA (II). Since the KDI peptide is an inhibitor of glutamate receptors and non-competitively inhibits the AMPA receptor, it may improve neuronal survival in many different CNS injury types (III). Excitotoxic brain damage is the major common pathway of neuronal damage in many types of CNS injury and a major mechanism of neuronal degeneration following ischemic stroke. By improving neuronal regeneration and supporting neuronal survival following excitotoxic insults, the inductive expression of  $\gamma 1$  laminin and its KDI peptide may strengthen repair mechanisms in the brain after cerebral ischemic damage. A study by Yepes and colleagues showed that after focal ischemic brain damage, application of neuroserpin for preservation of laminin, primarily in neurons within the CNS, reduced infarct volume and apoptosis. That immunohistochemistry revealed inhibition of proteolysis of laminin in basement membranes supports the hypothesis of the protective role of laminin in a stroke model (Yepes et al., 2000). In contrast, inhibition of the expression of laminins can hamper the brain's regenerative capacity and should be avoided after cerebral injuries. A study by Gu and colleagues showed, in a mouse focal cerebral ischemia model, that matrix metalloproteinase-9 degrades laminin, leading to induction of neuronal apoptosis. Blocking of matrix metalloproteinase-9 activity with a specific thiarine gelatinase inhibitor SB-3CT, and thereby blocking laminin cleavage, reduces neuronal apoptosis (Gu et al., 2005), suggesting that laminins may possess anti-apoptotic properties.

# SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

The KDI peptide is a potentially neuroregenerative and neuroprotective peptide derived from laminin-1. The purpose of this study was to clarify the role of  $\gamma$ 1 laminin and its KDI peptide in neuronal regeneration and further elucidate the role of laminins in the injured CNS. The in vitro studies presented here suggest that the KDI peptide stimulates neurite outgrowth and neuronal survival. When KDI peptide is added to their culture media, human embryonal SC, neocortical, and retinal neurons cultured in a hostile environment benefit in viability and neurite outgrowth. Neurons cultured on injured glial cells and on the white matter of sectioned SC are able to grow long neurites in the presence of KDI peptide. That the KDI peptide protects against hippocampal tissue damage caused by local injections of KA in vivo supports the in vitro results and indicates that the KDI peptide can protect against excitotoxic insults. To expand this hypothesis, our electrophysiological experiments interestingly show that the KDI peptide inhibits glutamate receptors in a noncompetitive and dose-dependent manner with almost a complete inhibition of AMPA and kainate currents and a partial inhibition of NMDA receptor currents. Finally, in an experimental ischemic stroke model, we showed that laminin-1,  $\gamma$ 1-laminin, and its KDI peptide are expressed in reactive astrocytes surrounding the ischemic regions, suggesting their involvement in the pathophysiology of this devastating disease.

Further experiments testing the protective effects of the KDI peptide in other neurodegenerative disorders would clarify its possible therapeutic potential. For example, testing the hypothesis of its potential involvement in cerebral stroke requires more extensive studies involving application of KDI peptide.

Exciting questions should be elucidated in the future involving the role of the laminins in maintaining the BBB: Do laminins stimulate neurogenesis in the dentate gyrus and the subventricular zone? How do laminins co-localize with newly formed neurons, and do they participate in forming pathways for neurons to migrate to regions of destruction?

Therapeutically, the KDI peptide may provide a new tool for neuronal regeneration and support the viability of neurons in degenerative CNS diseases. Our animal and cellular experiments show that if used at therapeutic concentrations, the KDI peptide is not only effective in regenerating and protecting the CNS but is also unlikely to produce overt adverse effects. A better understanding of KDI as a clinical therapy in treating CNS diseases calls for more research. In addition, investigating the mechanisms at cellular and molecular levels through which the KDI peptide may support neuronal viability and protect against injury is vital for its development towards a therapeutic tool. In today's research, many successful biochemical strategies against neuronal death are emerging, and application of the KDI peptide together with other therapies could in fact aid in the struggle for neuroprotection and neuronal regeneration.

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The work for this PhD study was carried out at the Department of Neurology, Helsinki University Central Hospital, the Department of Biological and Environmental Sciences, and the Department of Anatomy at the University of Helsinki.

I am thankful to Docent Turgut Tatlisumak for being my mentor and giving me all the support and encouragement needed to finish this thesis study. His supportive attitude towards junior scientists is of value to the whole scientific community.

I thank Professor Kristian Donner for all his support and encouragement during the years at his department and thank Professors Ismo Virtanen and Timo Erkinjuntti for much aid and support.

I thank Carol Norris for her language courses and for author-editing the language of this thesis. I am thankful to Rasmus Snabb for his skilled help with the artwork.

I thank all my collaborators and co-authors.

I am indebted to the reviewers of this thesis, Olli Carpen and Milla Koistinaho, for their constructive comments.

Kristian Donner and Ilmo Leivo are warmly acknowledged for being members of my thesis follow-up committee. I also thank Pekka Rauhala for his time in my follow-up committee.

I thank the whole Tatlisumak group, for interesting discussions and friendship.

I warmly thank my fellow scientist and colleague Markus Wiksten for his friendship and encouragement. I thank Tommi Möykkynen for collaboration and interesting discussions about science and philosophy. I am thankful to Aili Takkinen for her technical assistance.

I wish to acknowledge my colleagues and fellow basic scientists Matts Linder, Karri Paavonen, and Tuomas Tammela for their friendship and good advice during the years.

I wish to thank my colleagues at Munksnäs Healthcare Center and chief physician Lars Rosengren for their support in combining clinical work with basic medical science.

Professors Olli Jänne and Tomi Mäkelä are noted for their dedication in the Helsinki Biomedical Graduate School. I am also grateful to the Helsinki Biomedical Graduate School for financial support. This work was also supported by Nylands Nation, Finska Läkarsällskapet, the Perklens Foundation, Oscar Öflunds Foundation, Liv och Hälsa, O.A Malms Foundation, and the Finnish Medical Foundation.

I thank my grandfather for showing me the impact science can have from past to present. I am grateful to my father and mother for sharing their values, strength, and love with their three children.

I thank both my sister and brother for supporting each other as much as they have supported me.

I am grateful for finding a most understanding, encouraging, and loving wife. The joy of my life, Piu, I dedicate this work to you.

Helsinki April, 2008

58

# REFERENCES

- AGUAYO, A. J., DAVID, S. AND BRAY, G. M., 1981. INFLUENCES OF THE GLIAL ENVIRONMENT ON THE ELONGATION OF AXONS AFTER INJURY: TRANSPLANTATION STUDIES IN ADULT RODENTS. J EXP BIOL. 95, 231-240.
- ALOISI, F., ROSA, S., TESTA, U., BONSI, P., RUSSO, G., PESCHLE, C. AND LEVI, G., 1994. REGU-LATION OF LEUKEMIA INHIBITORY FACTOR SYNTHESIS IN CULTURED HUMAN AS-TROCYTES. J IMMUNOL. 152, 5022-5031.
- ARUNDINE, M. AND TYMIANSKI, M., 2003. MOLECULAR MECHANISMS OF CALCIUM-DEPENDENT NEURODEGENERATION IN EXCITOTOXICITY. CELL CALCIUM. 34, 325-337.
- ARUNDINE, M. AND TYMIANSKI, M., 2004. MOLECULAR MECHANISMS OF GLUTAMATE-DEPENDENT NEURODEGENERATION IN ISCHEMIA AND TRAUMATIC BRAIN INJURY. CELL MOL LIFE SCI. 61, 657-668.
- AUMAILLEY, M., BRUCKNER-TUDERMAN, L., CARTER, W. G., DEUTZMANN, R., EDGAR, D., EKBLOM, P., ENGEL, J., ENGVALL, E., HOHENESTER, E., JONES, J. C., KLEINMAN, H. K., MARINKOVICH, M. P., MARTIN, G. R., MAYER, U., MENEGUZZI, G., MINER, J. H., MIYA-ZAKI, K., PATARROYO, M., PAULSSON, M., QUARANTA, V., SANES, J. R., SASAKI, T., SEKIGUCHI, K., SOROKIN, L. M., TALTS, J. F., TRYGGVASON, K., UITTO, J., VIRTANEN, I., VON DER MARK, K., WEWER, U. M., YAMADA, Y. AND YURCHENCO, P. D., 2005. A SIMPLIFIED LAMININ NOMENCLATURE. MATRIX BIOL. 24, 326-332.
- AYATA, C. AND ROPPER, A. H., 2002. ISCHAEMIC BRAIN OEDEMA. J CLIN NEUROSCI. 9, 113-124.
- BAGHDASSARIAN, D., TORU-DELBAUFFE, D., GAVARET, J. M. AND PIERRE, M., 1993. EFFECTS OF TRANSFORMING GROWTH FACTOR-BETA 1 ON THE EXTRACELLULAR MATRIX AND CYTOSKELETON OF CULTURED ASTROCYTES. GLIA. 7, 193-202.
- BARON-VAN EVERCOOREN, A., KLEINMAN, H. K., OHNO, S., MARANGOS, P., SCHWARTZ, J. P. AND DUBOIS-DALCQ, M. E., 1982. NERVE GROWTH FACTOR, LAMININ, AND FI-BRONECTIN PROMOTE NEURITE GROWTH IN HUMAN FETAL SENSORY GANGLIA CULTURES. J NEUROSCI RES. 8, 179-193.
- BARRES, B. A., HART, I. K., COLES, H. S., BURNE, J. F., VOYVODIC, J. T., RICHARDSON, W. D. AND RAFF, M. C., 1992. CELL DEATH AND CONTROL OF CELL SURVIVAL IN THE OLI-GODENDROCYTE LINEAGE. CELL. 70, 31-46.
- BARTHOLDI, D. AND SCHWAB, M. E., 1997. EXPRESSION OF PRO-INFLAMMATORY CYTOKINE AND CHEMOKINE MRNA UPON EXPERIMENTAL SPINAL CORD INJURY IN MOUSE: AN IN SITU HYBRIDIZATION STUDY. EUR J NEUROSCI. 9, 1422-1438.
- BEAL, M. F., 1998. EXCITOTOXICITY AND NITRIC OXIDE IN PARKINSON'S DISEASE PATHO-GENESIS. ANN NEUROL. 44, S110-114.
- BECK, K., DIXON, T. W., ENGEL, J. AND PARRY, D. A., 1993. IONIC INTERACTIONS IN THE COILED-COIL DOMAIN OF LAMININ DETERMINE THE SPECIFICITY OF CHAIN ASSEM-BLY. J MOL BIOL. 231, 311-323.
- BECK, K., HUNTER, I. AND ENGEL, J., 1990. STRUCTURE AND FUNCTION OF LAMININ: ANAT-OMY OF A MULTIDOMAIN GLYCOPROTEIN. FASEB J. 4, 148-160.

- BEN-ARI, Y., 1985. LIMBIC SEIZURE AND BRAIN DAMAGE PRODUCED BY KAINIC ACID: MECHANISMS AND RELEVANCE TO HUMAN TEMPORAL LOBE EPILEPSY. NEUROSCI-ENCE. 14, 375-403.
- BEN-ARI, Y. AND COSSART, R., 2000. KAINATE, A DOUBLE AGENT THAT GENERATES SEI-ZURES: TWO DECADES OF PROGRESS. TRENDS NEUROSCI. 23, 580-587.
- BEN-ARI, Y., LAGOWSKA, J., TREMBLAY, E. AND LE GAL LA SALLE, G., 1979. A NEW MODEL OF FOCAL STATUS EPILEPTICUS: INTRA-AMYGDALOID APPLICATION OF KAINIC ACID ELICITS REPETITIVE SECONDARILY GENERALIZED CONVULSIVE SEIZURES. BRAIN RES. 163, 176-179.
- BERNSTEIN, J. J., GETZ, R., JEFFERSON, M. AND KELEMEN, M., 1985. ASTROCYTES SECRETE BASAL LAMINA AFTER HEMISECTION OF RAT SPINAL CORD. BRAIN RES. 327, 135-141.
- BETHEA, J. R. AND DIETRICH, W. D., 2002. TARGETING THE HOST INFLAMMATORY RESPONSE IN TRAUMATIC SPINAL CORD INJURY. CURR OPIN NEUROL. 15, 355-360.
- BLAESS, S., GRAUS-PORTA, D., BELVINDRAH, R., RADAKOVITS, R., PONS, S., LITTLEWOOD-EVANS, A., SENFTEN, M., GUO, H., LI, Y., MINER, J. H., REICHARDT, L. F. AND MULLER, U., 2004. BETA1-INTEGRINS ARE CRITICAL FOR CEREBELLAR GRANULE CELL PRE-CURSOR PROLIFERATION. J NEUROSCI. 24, 3402-3412.
- BLOMGREN, K., LEIST, M. AND GROC, L., 2007. PATHOLOGICAL APOPTOSIS IN THE DEVELOP-ING BRAIN. APOPTOSIS. 12, 993-1010.
- BRADBURY, E. J., MOON, L. D., POPAT, R. J., KING, V. R., BENNETT, G. S., PATEL, P. N., FAW-CETT, J. W. AND MCMAHON, S. B., 2002. CHONDROITINASE ABC PROMOTES FUNC-TIONAL RECOVERY AFTER SPINAL CORD INJURY. NATURE. 416, 636-640.
- BRANDENBERGER, R., KAMMERER, R. A., ENGEL, J. AND CHIQUET, M., 1996. NATIVE CHICK LAMININ-4 CONTAINING THE BETA 2 CHAIN (S-LAMININ) PROMOTES MOTOR AXON GROWTH. J CELL BIOL. 135, 1583-1592.
- BREDT, D. S. AND SNYDER, S. H., 1994. NITRIC OXIDE: A PHYSIOLOGIC MESSENGER MOLE-CULE. ANNU REV BIOCHEM. 63, 175-195.
- BRODKEY, J. A., LAYWELL, E. D., O'BRIEN, T. F., FAISSNER, A., STEFANSSON, K., DORRIES, H. U., SCHACHNER, M. AND STEINDLER, D. A., 1995. FOCAL BRAIN INJURY AND UPREGULATION OF A DEVELOPMENTALLY REGULATED EXTRACELLULAR MATRIX PROTEIN. J NEUROSURG. 82, 106-112.
- BRUCH, M., LANDWEHR, R. AND ENGEL, J., 1989. DISSECTION OF LAMININ BY CATHEPSIN G INTO ITS LONG-ARM AND SHORT-ARM STRUCTURES AND LOCALIZATION OF RE-GIONS INVOLVED IN CALCIUM DEPENDENT STABILIZATION AND SELF-ASSOCIATION. EUR J BIOCHEM. 185, 271-279.
- BUNDESEN, L. Q., SCHEEL, T. A., BREGMAN, B. S. AND KROMER, L. F., 2003. EPHRIN-B2 AND EPHB2 REGULATION OF ASTROCYTE-MENINGEAL FIBROBLAST INTERACTIONS IN RESPONSE TO SPINAL CORD LESIONS IN ADULT RATS. J NEUROSCI. 23, 7789-7800.
- BURGESON, R. E., CHIQUET, M., DEUTZMANN, R., EKBLOM, P., ENGEL, J., KLEINMAN, H., MARTIN, G. R., MENEGUZZI, G., PAULSSON, M., SANES, J. AND ET AL., 1994. A NEW NOMENCLATURE FOR THE LAMININS. MATRIX BIOL. 14, 209-211.
- BUSCH, S. A. AND SILVER, J., 2007. THE ROLE OF EXTRACELLULAR MATRIX IN CNS REGENERATION. CURR OPIN NEUROBIOL. 17, 120-127.

- BUTZKUEVEN, H., ZHANG, J. G., SOILU-HANNINEN, M., HOCHREIN, H., CHIONH, F., SHIPHAM, K. A., EMERY, B., TURNLEY, A. M., PETRATOS, S., ERNST, M., BARTLETT, P. F. AND KILPATRICK, T. J., 2002. LIF RECEPTOR SIGNALING LIMITS IMMUNE-MEDIATED DE-MYELINATION BY ENHANCING OLIGODENDROCYTE SURVIVAL. NAT MED. 8, 613-619.
- CASHA, S., YU, W. R. AND FEHLINGS, M. G., 2001. OLIGODENDROGLIAL APOPTOSIS OCCURS ALONG DEGENERATING AXONS AND IS ASSOCIATED WITH FAS AND P75 EXPRES-SION FOLLOWING SPINAL CORD INJURY IN THE RAT. NEUROSCIENCE. 103, 203-218.
- CASHA, S., YU, W. R. AND FEHLINGS, M. G., 2005. FAS DEFICIENCY REDUCES APOPTOSIS, SPARES AXONS AND IMPROVES FUNCTION AFTER SPINAL CORD INJURY. EXP NEU-ROL. 196, 390-400.
- CHAMMAS, R., VEIGA, S. S., LINE, S., POTOCNJAK, P. AND BRENTANI, R. R., 1991. ASN-LINKED OLIGOSACCHARIDE-DEPENDENT INTERACTION BETWEEN LAMININ AND GP120/140. AN ALPHA 6/BETA 1 INTEGRIN. J BIOL CHEM. 266, 3349-3355.
- CHEN, Q., HARRIS, C., BROWN, C. S., HOWE, A., SURMEIER, D. J. AND REINER, A., 1995. GLU-TAMATE-MEDIATED EXCITOTOXIC DEATH OF CULTURED STRIATAL NEURONS IS MEDIATED BY NON-NMDA RECEPTORS. EXP NEUROL. 136, 212-224.
- CHEN, Z. L., INDYK, J. A. AND STRICKLAND, S., 2003. THE HIPPOCAMPAL LAMININ MATRIX IS DYNAMIC AND CRITICAL FOR NEURONAL SURVIVAL. MOL BIOL CELL. 14, 2665-2676.
- CHEN, Z. L. AND STRICKLAND, S., 1997. NEURONAL DEATH IN THE HIPPOCAMPUS IS PRO-MOTED BY PLASMIN-CATALYZED DEGRADATION OF LAMININ. CELL. 91, 917-925.
- CHEN, Z. L. AND STRICKLAND, S., 2003. LAMININ GAMMA1 IS CRITICAL FOR SCHWANN CELL DIFFERENTIATION, AXON MYELINATION, AND REGENERATION IN THE PERIPHERAL NERVE. J CELL BIOL. 163, 889-899.
- CHENG, H., CAO, Y. AND OLSON, L., 1996. SPINAL CORD REPAIR IN ADULT PARAPLEGIC RATS: PARTIAL RESTORATION OF HIND LIMB FUNCTION. SCIENCE. 273, 510-513.
- CHENG, Y. AND SUN, A. Y., 1994. OXIDATIVE MECHANISMS INVOLVED IN KAINATE-INDUCED CYTOTOXICITY IN CORTICAL NEURONS. NEUROCHEM RES. 19, 1557-1564.
- CHOI, D. W., 1987. IONIC DEPENDENCE OF GLUTAMATE NEUROTOXICITY. J NEUROSCI. 7, 369-379.
- CHOI, D. W., 1992. EXCITOTOXIC CELL DEATH. J NEUROBIOL. 23, 1261-1276.
- CHOI, D. W., 1995. CALCIUM: STILL CENTER-STAGE IN HYPOXIC-ISCHEMIC NEURONAL DEATH. TRENDS NEUROSCI. 18, 58-60.
- CHOI, D. W., MAULUCCI-GEDDE, M. AND KRIEGSTEIN, A. R., 1987. GLUTAMATE NEUROTOXIC-ITY IN CORTICAL CELL CULTURE. J NEUROSCI. 7, 357-368.
- CHUN, S. J., RASBAND, M. N., SIDMAN, R. L., HABIB, A. A. AND VARTANIAN, T., 2003. IN-TEGRIN-LINKED KINASE IS REQUIRED FOR LAMININ-2-INDUCED OLIGODENDRO-CYTE CELL SPREADING AND CNS MYELINATION. J CELL BIOL. 163, 397-408.
- COHEN, J., BURNE, J. F., MCKINLAY, C. AND WINTER, J., 1987. THE ROLE OF LAMININ AND THE LAMININ/FIBRONECTIN RECEPTOR COMPLEX IN THE OUTGROWTH OF RETINAL GANGLION CELL AXONS. DEV BIOL. 122, 407-418.
- COHEN, J., BURNE, J. F., WINTER, J. AND BARTLETT, P., 1986. RETINAL GANGLION CELLS LOSE RESPONSE TO LAMININ WITH MATURATION. NATURE. 322, 465-467.

- COLOGNATO, H., GALVIN, J., WANG, Z., RELUCIO, J., NGUYEN, T., HARRISON, D., YURCH-ENCO, P. D. AND FFRENCH-CONSTANT, C., 2007. IDENTIFICATION OF DYSTROGLYCAN AS A SECOND LAMININ RECEPTOR IN OLIGODENDROCYTES, WITH A ROLE IN MYE-LINATION. DEVELOPMENT. 134, 1723-1736.
- COLOGNATO, H. AND YURCHENCO, P. D., 2000. FORM AND FUNCTION: THE LAMININ FAMILY OF HETEROTRIMERS. DEV DYN. 218, 213-234.
- CONDORELLI, D. F., SALIN, T., DELL' ALBANI, P., MUDO, G., CORSARO, M., TIMMUSK, T., MET-SIS, M. AND BELLUARDO, N., 1995. NEUROTROPHINS AND THEIR TRK RECEPTORS IN CULTURED CELLS OF THE GLIAL LINEAGE AND IN WHITE MATTER OF THE CENTRAL NERVOUS SYSTEM. J MOL NEUROSCI. 6, 237-248.
- CORNBROOKS, C. J., CAREY, D. J., MCDONALD, J. A., TIMPL, R. AND BUNGE, R. P., 1983. IN VIVO AND IN VITRO OBSERVATIONS ON LAMININ PRODUCTION BY SCHWANN CELLS. PROC NATL ACAD SCI U S A. 80, 3850-3854.
- COYLE, J. T., FERKANY, J. W. AND ZACZEK, R., 1983. KAINIC ACID: INSIGHTS FROM A NEURO-TOXIN INTO THE PATHOPHYSIOLOGY OF HUNTINGTON'S DISEASE. NEUROBEHAV TOXICOL TERATOL. 5, 617-624.
- COYLE, J. T., PRICE, D. L. AND DELONG, M. R., 1983. ALZHEIMER'S DISEASE: A DISORDER OF CORTICAL CHOLINERGIC INNERVATION. SCIENCE. 219, 1184-1190.
- CROWE, M. J., BRESNAHAN, J. C., SHUMAN, S. L., MASTERS, J. N. AND BEATTIE, M. S., 1997. APOPTOSIS AND DELAYED DEGENERATION AFTER SPINAL CORD INJURY IN RATS AND MONKEYS. NAT MED. 3, 73-76.
- DA CUNHA, A. AND VITKOVIC, L., 1992. TRANSFORMING GROWTH FACTOR-BETA 1 (TGF-BETA 1) EXPRESSION AND REGULATION IN RAT CORTICAL ASTROCYTES. J NEURO-IMMUNOL. 36, 157-169.
- DAVID, S. AND AGUAYO, A. J., 1981. AXONAL ELONGATION INTO PERIPHERAL NERVOUS SYSTEM "BRIDGES" AFTER CENTRAL NERVOUS SYSTEM INJURY IN ADULT RATS. SCIENCE. 214, 931-933.
- DAVID, S., BRAUN, P. E., JACKSON, D. L., KOTTIS, V. AND MCKERRACHER, L., 1995. LAMININ OVERRIDES THE INHIBITORY EFFECTS OF PERIPHERAL NERVOUS SYSTEM AND CEN-TRAL NERVOUS SYSTEM MYELIN-DERIVED INHIBITORS OF NEURITE GROWTH. J NEUROSCI RES. 42, 594-602.
- DAVIES, S. J., GOUCHER, D. R., DOLLER, C. AND SILVER, J., 1999. ROBUST REGENERATION OF ADULT SENSORY AXONS IN DEGENERATING WHITE MATTER OF THE ADULT RAT SPINAL CORD. J NEUROSCI. 19, 5810-5822.
- DEAN, J. W., 3RD, CHANDRASEKARAN, S. AND TANZER, M. L., 1990. A BIOLOGICAL ROLE OF THE CARBOHYDRATE MOIETIES OF LAMININ. J BIOL CHEM. 265, 12553-12562.
- DECHANT, G. AND BARDE, Y. A., 2002. THE NEUROTROPHIN RECEPTOR P75(NTR): NOVEL FUNCTIONS AND IMPLICATIONS FOR DISEASES OF THE NERVOUS SYSTEM. NAT NEUROSCI. 5, 1131-1136.
- DENNIS, J. W., WALLER, C. A. AND SCHIRRMACHER, V., 1984. IDENTIFICATION OF ASPAR-AGINE-LINKED OLIGOSACCHARIDES INVOLVED IN TUMOR CELL ADHESION TO LAMININ AND TYPE IV COLLAGEN. J CELL BIOL. 99, 1416-1423.
- DIRNAGL, U., IADECOLA, C. AND MOSKOWITZ, M. A., 1999. PATHOBIOLOGY OF ISCHAEMIC STROKE: AN INTEGRATED VIEW. TRENDS NEUROSCI. 22, 391-397.

- DOMENICONI, M., CAO, Z., SPENCER, T., SIVASANKARAN, R., WANG, K., NIKULINA, E., KI-MURA, N., CAI, H., DENG, K., GAO, Y., HE, Z. AND FILBIN, M., 2002. MYELIN-ASSOCIATED GLYCOPROTEIN INTERACTS WITH THE NOGO66 RECEPTOR TO INHIBIT NEURITE OUTGROWTH. NEURON. 35, 283-290.
- DZIADEK, M. AND TIMPL, R., 1985. EXPRESSION OF NIDOGEN AND LAMININ IN BASEMENT MEMBRANES DURING MOUSE EMBRYOGENESIS AND IN TERATOCARCINOMA CELLS. DEV BIOL. 111, 372-382.
- EDGAR, D., TIMPL, R. AND THOENEN, H., 1984. THE HEPARIN-BINDING DOMAIN OF LAMININ IS RESPONSIBLE FOR ITS EFFECTS ON NEURITE OUTGROWTH AND NEURONAL SUR-VIVAL. EMBO J. 3, 1463-1468.
- EISEN, A. AND WEBER, M., 2001. THE MOTOR CORTEX AND AMYOTROPHIC LATERAL SCLE-ROSIS. MUSCLE NERVE. 24, 564-573.
- EKSHYYAN, O. AND AW, T. Y., 2004. APOPTOSIS: A KEY IN NEURODEGENERATIVE DISOR-DERS. CURR NEUROVASC RES. 1, 355-371.
- ELIASSON, M. J., SAMPEI, K., MANDIR, A. S., HURN, P. D., TRAYSTMAN, R. J., BAO, J., PIEPER, A., WANG, Z. Q., DAWSON, T. M., SNYDER, S. H. AND DAWSON, V. L., 1997. POLY(ADP-RIBOSE) POLYMERASE GENE DISRUPTION RENDERS MICE RESISTANT TO CEREBRAL ISCHEMIA. NAT MED. 3, 1089-1095.
- ENDRES, M., WANG, Z. Q., NAMURA, S., WAEBER, C. AND MOSKOWITZ, M. A., 1997. ISCHEMIC BRAIN INJURY IS MEDIATED BY THE ACTIVATION OF POLY(ADP-RIBOSE)POLYMERASE. J CEREB BLOOD FLOW METAB. 17, 1143-1151.
- ENGEL, J., 1989. EGF-LIKE DOMAINS IN EXTRACELLULAR MATRIX PROTEINS: LOCALIZED SIGNALS FOR GROWTH AND DIFFERENTIATION? FEBS LETT. 251, 1-7.
- ENGEL, J., ODERMATT, E., ENGEL, A., MADRI, J. A., FURTHMAYR, H., ROHDE, H. AND TIMPL, R., 1981. SHAPES, DOMAIN ORGANIZATIONS AND FLEXIBILITY OF LAMININ AND FI-BRONECTIN, TWO MULTIFUNCTIONAL PROTEINS OF THE EXTRACELLULAR MATRIX. J MOL BIOL. 150, 97-120.
- FAHN, S. AND SULZER, D., 2004. NEURODEGENERATION AND NEUROPROTECTION IN PARK-INSON DISEASE. NEURORX. 1, 139-154.
- FALK, A. AND FRISEN, J., 2005. NEW NEURONS IN OLD BRAINS. ANN MED. 37, 480-486.
- FAWCETT, J. W. AND ASHER, R. A., 1999. THE GLIAL SCAR AND CENTRAL NERVOUS SYSTEM REPAIR. BRAIN RES BULL. 49, 377-391.
- FOURNIER, A. E., GRANDPRE, T. AND STRITTMATTER, S. M., 2001. IDENTIFICATION OF A RE-CEPTOR MEDIATING NOGO-66 INHIBITION OF AXONAL REGENERATION. NATURE. 409, 341-346.
- FU, S. Y. AND GORDON, T., 1997. THE CELLULAR AND MOLECULAR BASIS OF PERIPHERAL NERVE REGENERATION. MOL NEUROBIOL. 14, 67-116.
- GALLO, G. AND LETOURNEAU, P. C., 1998. LOCALIZED SOURCES OF NEUROTROPHINS INITI-ATE AXON COLLATERAL SPROUTING. J NEUROSCI. 18, 5403-5414.
- GARCIA-ALONSO, L., FETTER, R. D. AND GOODMAN, C. S., 1996. GENETIC ANALYSIS OF LAMININ A IN DROSOPHILA: EXTRACELLULAR MATRIX CONTAINING LAMININ A IS REQUIRED FOR OCELLAR AXON PATHFINDING. DEVELOPMENT. 122, 2611-2621.

- GARY, D. S. AND MATTSON, M. P., 2001. INTEGRIN SIGNALING VIA THE PI3-KINASE-AKT PATHWAY INCREASES NEURONAL RESISTANCE TO GLUTAMATE-INDUCED APOP-TOSIS. J NEUROCHEM. 76, 1485-1496.
- GARY, D. S., MILHAVET, O., CAMANDOLA, S. AND MATTSON, M. P., 2003. ESSENTIAL ROLE FOR INTEGRIN LINKED KINASE IN AKT-MEDIATED INTEGRIN SURVIVAL SIGNALING IN HIPPOCAMPAL NEURONS. J NEUROCHEM. 84, 878-890.
- GEISERT, E. E., JR., BIDANSET, D. J., DEL MAR, N. AND ROBSON, J. A., 1996. UP-REGULATION OF A KERATAN SULFATE PROTEOGLYCAN FOLLOWING CORTICAL INJURY IN NEO-NATAL RATS. INT J DEV NEUROSCI. 14, 257-267.
- GENNARELLI, T. A., THIBAULT, L. E., ADAMS, J. H., GRAHAM, D. I., THOMPSON, C. J. AND MARCINCIN, R. P., 1982. DIFFUSE AXONAL INJURY AND TRAUMATIC COMA IN THE PRIMATE. ANN NEUROL. 12, 564-574.
- GIACOBINI, M. M., HOFFER, B. J., ZERBE, G. AND OLSON, L., 1991. ACIDIC AND BASIC FIBRO-BLAST GROWTH FACTORS AUGMENT GROWTH OF FETAL BRAIN TISSUE GRAFTS. EXP BRAIN RES. 86, 73-81.
- GLUCKMAN, P., KLEMPT, N., GUAN, J., MALLARD, C., SIRIMANNE, E., DRAGUNOW, M., KLEMPT, M., SINGH, K., WILLIAMS, C. AND NIKOLICS, K., 1992. A ROLE FOR IGF-1 IN THE RESCUE OF CNS NEURONS FOLLOWING HYPOXIC-ISCHEMIC INJURY. BIOCHEM BIOPHYS RES COMMUN. 182, 593-599.
- GOLDOWITZ, D. AND HAMRE, K., 1998. THE CELLS AND MOLECULES THAT MAKE A CERE-BELLUM. TRENDS NEUROSCI. 21, 375-382.
- GOTO, A. AND FURUKAWA, S., 1995. [EXPERIMENTAL CHANGES IN BDNF- AND NT-3-LIKE IMMUNOREACTIVITIES IN THE SPINAL CORD FOLLOWING ITS TRANSECTION]. NIP-PON SEIKEIGEKA GAKKAI ZASSHI. 69, 506-516.
- GRANDE, J. P., 1997. ROLE OF TRANSFORMING GROWTH FACTOR-BETA IN TISSUE INJURY AND REPAIR. PROC SOC EXP BIOL MED. 214, 27-40.
- GRAUS-PORTA, D., BLAESS, S., SENFTEN, M., LITTLEWOOD-EVANS, A., DAMSKY, C., HUANG, Z., ORBAN, P., KLEIN, R., SCHITTNY, J. C. AND MULLER, U., 2001. BETA1-CLASS IN-TEGRINS REGULATE THE DEVELOPMENT OF LAMINAE AND FOLIA IN THE CEREBRAL AND CEREBELLAR CORTEX. NEURON. 31, 367-379.
- GRAZIANI, G. AND SZABO, C., 2005. CLINICAL PERSPECTIVES OF PARP INHIBITORS. PHAR-MACOL RES. 52, 109-118.
- GRIMPE, B., DONG, S., DOLLER, C., TEMPLE, K., MALOUF, A. T. AND SILVER, J., 2002. THE CRITICAL ROLE OF BASEMENT MEMBRANE-INDEPENDENT LAMININ GAMMA 1 CHAIN DURING AXON REGENERATION IN THE CNS. J NEUROSCI. 22, 3144-3160.
- GRIS, D., MARSH, D. R., OATWAY, M. A., CHEN, Y., HAMILTON, E. F., DEKABAN, G. A. AND WEAVER, L. C., 2004. TRANSIENT BLOCKADE OF THE CD11D/CD18 INTEGRIN REDUCES SECONDARY DAMAGE AFTER SPINAL CORD INJURY, IMPROVING SENSORY, AUTO-NOMIC, AND MOTOR FUNCTION. J NEUROSCI. 24, 4043-4051.
- GROOMS, S. Y., OPITZ, T., BENNETT, M. V. AND ZUKIN, R. S., 2000. STATUS EPILEPTICUS DE-CREASES GLUTAMATE RECEPTOR 2 MRNA AND PROTEIN EXPRESSION IN HIPPO-CAMPAL PYRAMIDAL CELLS BEFORE NEURONAL DEATH. PROC NATL ACAD SCI U S A. 97, 3631-3636.

- GU, Z., CUI, J., BROWN, S., FRIDMAN, R., MOBASHERY, S., STRONGIN, A. Y. AND LIPTON, S. A., 2005. A HIGHLY SPECIFIC INHIBITOR OF MATRIX METALLOPROTEINASE-9 RESCUES LAMININ FROM PROTEOLYSIS AND NEURONS FROM APOPTOSIS IN TRANSIENT FO-CAL CEREBRAL ISCHEMIA. J NEUROSCI. 25, 6401-6408.
- GUADAGNO, E. AND MOUKHLES, H., 2004. LAMININ-INDUCED AGGREGATION OF THE IN-WARDLY RECTIFYING POTASSIUM CHANNEL, KIR4.1, AND THE WATER-PERMEABLE CHANNEL, AQP4, VIA A DYSTROGLYCAN-CONTAINING COMPLEX IN ASTROCYTES. GLIA. 47, 138-149.
- GUEST, J. D., HIESTER, E. D. AND BUNGE, R. P., 2005. DEMYELINATION AND SCHWANN CELL RESPONSES ADJACENT TO INJURY EPICENTER CAVITIES FOLLOWING CHRONIC HU-MAN SPINAL CORD INJURY. EXP NEUROL. 192, 384-393.
- HAGER, G., PAWELZIK, H., KREUTZBERG, G. W. AND ZIEGLGANSBERGER, W., 1998. A PEPTIDE DERIVED FROM A NEURITE OUTGROWTH-PROMOTING DOMAIN ON THE GAMMA 1 CHAIN OF LAMININ MODULATES THE ELECTRICAL PROPERTIES OF NEOCORTICAL NEURONS. NEUROSCIENCE. 86, 1145-1154.
- HAGG, T., MUIR, D., ENGVALL, E., VARON, S. AND MANTHORPE, M., 1989. LAMININ-LIKE AN-TIGEN IN RAT CNS NEURONS: DISTRIBUTION AND CHANGES UPON BRAIN INJURY AND NERVE GROWTH FACTOR TREATMENT. NEURON. 3, 721-732.
- HAGG, T. AND OUDEGA, M., 2006. DEGENERATIVE AND SPONTANEOUS REGENERATIVE PROCESSES AFTER SPINAL CORD INJURY. J NEUROTRAUMA. 23, 264-280.
- HAGG, T., PORTERA-CAILLIAU, C., JUCKER, M. AND ENGVALL, E., 1997. LAMININS OF THE ADULT MAMMALIAN CNS; LAMININ-ALPHA2 (MEROSIN M-) CHAIN IMMUNOREAC-TIVITY IS ASSOCIATED WITH NEURONAL PROCESSES. BRAIN RES. 764, 17-27.
- HALFTER, W., DONG, S., YIP, Y. P., WILLEM, M. AND MAYER, U., 2002. A CRITICAL FUNCTION OF THE PIAL BASEMENT MEMBRANE IN CORTICAL HISTOGENESIS. J NEUROSCI. 22, 6029-6040.
- HEIDENREICH, K. A., 2003. MOLECULAR MECHANISMS OF NEURONAL CELL DEATH. ANN N Y ACAD SCI. 991, 237-250.
- HOPKINS, J. M., FORD-HOLEVINSKI, T. S., MCCOY, J. P. AND AGRANOFF, B. W., 1985. LAMININ AND OPTIC NERVE REGENERATION IN THE GOLDFISH. J NEUROSCI. 5, 3030-3038.
- HOSSMANN, K. A., 1994. GLUTAMATE-MEDIATED INJURY IN FOCAL CEREBRAL ISCHEMIA: THE EXCITOTOXIN HYPOTHESIS REVISED. BRAIN PATHOL. 4, 23-36.
- HUANG, C. C., HALL, D. H., HEDGECOCK, E. M., KAO, G., KARANTZA, V., VOGEL, B. E., HUT-TER, H., CHISHOLM, A. D., YURCHENCO, P. D. AND WADSWORTH, W. G., 2003. LAMININ ALPHA SUBUNITS AND THEIR ROLE IN C. ELEGANS DEVELOPMENT. DEVELOPMENT. 130, 3343-3358.
- HUANG, E. J. AND REICHARDT, L. F., 2003. TRK RECEPTORS: ROLES IN NEURONAL SIGNAL TRANSDUCTION. ANNU REV BIOCHEM. 72, 609-642.
- HUBER, A. B., WEINMANN, O., BROSAMLE, C., OERTLE, T. AND SCHWAB, M. E., 2002. PAT-TERNS OF NOGO MRNA AND PROTEIN EXPRESSION IN THE DEVELOPING AND ADULT RAT AND AFTER CNS LESIONS. J NEUROSCI. 22, 3553-3567.
- HUNTER, D. D., PORTER, B. E., BULOCK, J. W., ADAMS, S. P., MERLIE, J. P. AND SANES, J. R., 1989. PRIMARY SEQUENCE OF A MOTOR NEURON-SELECTIVE ADHESIVE SITE IN THE SYNAPTIC BASAL LAMINA PROTEIN S-LAMININ. CELL. 59, 905-913.

- ICHIKAWA, N., KASAI, S., SUZUKI, N., NISHI, N., OISHI, S., FUJII, N., KADOYA, Y., HATORI, K., MIZUNO, Y., NOMIZU, M. AND ARIKAWA-HIRASAWA, E., 2005. IDENTIFICATION OF NEURITE OUTGROWTH ACTIVE SITES ON THE LAMININ ALPHA4 CHAIN G DOMAIN. BIOCHEMISTRY. 44, 5755-5762.
- INDYK, J. A., CHEN, Z. L., TSIRKA, S. E. AND STRICKLAND, S., 2003. LAMININ CHAIN EXPRES-SION SUGGESTS THAT LAMININ-10 IS A MAJOR ISOFORM IN THE MOUSE HIPPOCAM-PUS AND IS DEGRADED BY THE TISSUE PLASMINOGEN ACTIVATOR/PLASMIN PRO-TEASE CASCADE DURING EXCITOTOXIC INJURY. NEUROSCIENCE. 116, 359-371.
- JOHNSON, A. R., 1993. CONTACT INHIBITION IN THE FAILURE OF MAMMALIAN CNS AXONAL REGENERATION. BIOESSAYS. 15, 807-813.
- JONES, L. L., MARGOLIS, R. U. AND TUSZYNSKI, M. H., 2003. THE CHONDROITIN SULFATE PROTEOGLYCANS NEUROCAN, BREVICAN, PHOSPHACAN, AND VERSICAN ARE DIF-FERENTIALLY REGULATED FOLLOWING SPINAL CORD INJURY. EXP NEUROL. 182, 399-411.
- JONES, L. L., YAMAGUCHI, Y., STALLCUP, W. B. AND TUSZYNSKI, M. H., 2002. NG2 IS A MAJOR CHONDROITIN SULFATE PROTEOGLYCAN PRODUCED AFTER SPINAL CORD INJURY AND IS EXPRESSED BY MACROPHAGES AND OLIGODENDROCYTE PROGENITORS. J NEUROSCI. 22, 2792-2803.
- JONES, T. B., MCDANIEL, E. E. AND POPOVICH, P. G., 2005. INFLAMMATORY-MEDIATED IN-JURY AND REPAIR IN THE TRAUMATICALLY INJURED SPINAL CORD. CURR PHARM DES. 11, 1223-1236.
- JOZA, N., SUSIN, S. A., DAUGAS, E., STANFORD, W. L., CHO, S. K., LI, C. Y., SASAKI, T., ELIA, A. J., CHENG, H. Y., RAVAGNAN, L., FERRI, K. F., ZAMZAMI, N., WAKEHAM, A., HAKEM, R., YOSHIDA, H., KONG, Y. Y., MAK, T. W., ZUNIGA-PFLUCKER, J. C., KROEMER, G. AND PENNINGER, J. M., 2001. ESSENTIAL ROLE OF THE MITOCHONDRIAL APOPTOSIS-INDUCING FACTOR IN PROGRAMMED CELL DEATH. NATURE. 410, 549-554.
- KAHN, M. A. AND DE VELLIS, J., 1994. REGULATION OF AN OLIGODENDROCYTE PROGENITOR CELL LINE BY THE INTERLEUKIN-6 FAMILY OF CYTOKINES. GLIA. 12, 87-98.
- KEANE, R. W., KRAYDIEH, S., LOTOCKI, G., ALONSO, O. F., ALDANA, P. AND DIETRICH, W. D., 2001. APOPTOTIC AND ANTIAPOPTOTIC MECHANISMS AFTER TRAUMATIC BRAIN IN-JURY. J CEREB BLOOD FLOW METAB. 21, 1189-1198.
- KLUSMAN, I. AND SCHWAB, M. E., 1997. EFFECTS OF PRO-INFLAMMATORY CYTOKINES IN EXPERIMENTAL SPINAL CORD INJURY. BRAIN RES. 762, 173-184.
- KNIBBS, R. N., PERINI, F. AND GOLDSTEIN, I. J., 1989. STRUCTURE OF THE MAJOR CONCANA-VALIN A REACTIVE OLIGOSACCHARIDES OF THE EXTRACELLULAR MATRIX COM-PONENT LAMININ. BIOCHEMISTRY. 28, 6379-6392.
- KOCH, M., OLSON, P. F., ALBUS, A., JIN, W., HUNTER, D. D., BRUNKEN, W. J., BURGESON, R. E. AND CHAMPLIAUD, M. F., 1999. CHARACTERIZATION AND EXPRESSION OF THE LAMININ GAMMA3 CHAIN: A NOVEL, NON-BASEMENT MEMBRANE-ASSOCIATED, LAMININ CHAIN. J CELL BIOL. 145, 605-618.
- LALLIER, T. E., WHITTAKER, C. A. AND DESIMONE, D. W., 1996. INTEGRIN ALPHA 6 EXPRES-SION IS REQUIRED FOR EARLY NERVOUS SYSTEM DEVELOPMENT IN XENOPUS LAEVIS. DEVELOPMENT. 122, 2539-2554.
- LAPING, N. J., MORGAN, T. E., NICHOLS, N. R., ROZOVSKY, I., YOUNG-CHAN, C. S., ZAROW, C. AND FINCH, C. E., 1994. TRANSFORMING GROWTH FACTOR-BETA 1 INDUCES NEU-

RONAL AND ASTROCYTE GENES: TUBULIN ALPHA 1, GLIAL FIBRILLARY ACIDIC PROTEIN AND CLUSTERIN. NEUROSCIENCE. 58, 563-572.

- LATOV, N., NILAVER, G., ZIMMERMAN, E. A., JOHNSON, W. G., SILVERMAN, A. J., DEFENDINI, R. AND COTE, L., 1979. FIBRILLARY ASTROCYTES PROLIFERATE IN RESPONSE TO BRAIN INJURY: A STUDY COMBINING IMMUNOPEROXIDASE TECHNIQUE FOR GLIAL FIBRILLARY ACIDIC PROTEIN AND RADIOAUTOGRAPHY OF TRITIATED THYMIDINE. DEV BIOL. 72, 381-384.
- LAURIE, G. W., LEBLOND, C. P. AND MARTIN, G. R., 1982. LOCALIZATION OF TYPE IV COLLA-GEN, LAMININ, HEPARAN SULFATE PROTEOGLYCAN, AND FIBRONECTIN TO THE BASAL LAMINA OF BASEMENT MEMBRANES. J CELL BIOL. 95, 340-344.
- LEBLOND, C. P. AND INOUE, S., 1989. STRUCTURE, COMPOSITION, AND ASSEMBLY OF BASE-MENT MEMBRANE. AM J ANAT. 185, 367-390.
- LEE, M. Y., DELLER, T., KIRSCH, M., FROTSCHER, M. AND HOFMANN, H. D., 1997. DIFFEREN-TIAL REGULATION OF CILIARY NEUROTROPHIC FACTOR (CNTF) AND CNTF RECEP-TOR ALPHA EXPRESSION IN ASTROCYTES AND NEURONS OF THE FASCIA DENTATA AFTER ENTORHINAL CORTEX LESION. J NEUROSCI. 17, 1137-1146.
- LEIN, P. J., BANKER, G. A. AND HIGGINS, D., 1992. LAMININ SELECTIVELY ENHANCES AX-ONAL GROWTH AND ACCELERATES THE DEVELOPMENT OF POLARITY BY HIPPO-CAMPAL NEURONS IN CULTURE. BRAIN RES DEV BRAIN RES. 69, 191-197.
- LEIVO, I., VAHERI, A., TIMPL, R. AND WARTIOVAARA, J., 1980. APPEARANCE AND DISTRIBU-TION OF COLLAGENS AND LAMININ IN THE EARLY MOUSE EMBRYO. DEV BIOL. 76, 100-114.
- LESSMANN, V., GOTTMANN, K. AND MALCANGIO, M., 2003. NEUROTROPHIN SECRETION: CURRENT FACTS AND FUTURE PROSPECTS. PROG NEUROBIOL. 69, 341-374.
- LEVINE, J. M., 1994. INCREASED EXPRESSION OF THE NG2 CHONDROITIN-SULFATE PRO-TEOGLYCAN AFTER BRAIN INJURY. J NEUROSCI. 14, 4716-4730.
- LEWIS, P. M., GRITLI-LINDE, A., SMEYNE, R., KOTTMANN, A. AND MCMAHON, A. P., 2004. SONIC HEDGEHOG SIGNALING IS REQUIRED FOR EXPANSION OF GRANULE NEURON PRECURSORS AND PATTERNING OF THE MOUSE CEREBELLUM. DEV BIOL. 270, 393-410.
- LI, S. Y., NI, J. H., XU, D. S. AND JIA, H. T., 2003. DOWN-REGULATION OF GLUR2 IS ASSOCIATED WITH CA2+-DEPENDENT PROTEASE ACTIVITIES IN KAINATE-INDUCED APOPTOTIC CELL DEATH IN CULTURED [CORRECTION OF CULTURD] RAT HIPPOCAMPAL NEU-RONS. NEUROSCI LETT. 352, 105-108.
- LI, Y., POWERS, C., JIANG, N. AND CHOPP, M., 1998. INTACT, INJURED, NECROTIC AND APOP-TOTIC CELLS AFTER FOCAL CEREBRAL ISCHEMIA IN THE RAT. J NEUROL SCI. 156, 119-132.
- LIBBY, R. T., CHAMPLIAUD, M. F., CLAUDEPIERRE, T., XU, Y., GIBBONS, E. P., KOCH, M., BUR-GESON, R. E., HUNTER, D. D. AND BRUNKEN, W. J., 2000. LAMININ EXPRESSION IN ADULT AND DEVELOPING RETINAE: EVIDENCE OF TWO NOVEL CNS LAMININS. J NEUROSCI. 20, 6517-6528.
- LIBBY, R. T., HUNTER, D. D. AND BRUNKEN, W. J., 1996. DEVELOPMENTAL EXPRESSION OF LAMININ BETA 2 IN RAT RETINA. FURTHER SUPPORT FOR A ROLE IN ROD MORPHO-GENESIS. INVEST OPHTHALMOL VIS SCI. 37, 1651-1661.

- LIBBY, R. T., LAVALLEE, C. R., BALKEMA, G. W., BRUNKEN, W. J. AND HUNTER, D. D., 1999. DISRUPTION OF LAMININ BETA2 CHAIN PRODUCTION CAUSES ALTERATIONS IN MORPHOLOGY AND FUNCTION IN THE CNS. J NEUROSCI. 19, 9399-9411.
- LIBBY, R. T., XU, Y., SELFORS, L. M., BRUNKEN, W. J. AND HUNTER, D. D., 1997. IDENTIFICA-TION OF THE CELLULAR SOURCE OF LAMININ BETA2 IN ADULT AND DEVELOPING VERTEBRATE RETINAE. J COMP NEUROL. 389, 655-667.
- LIESI, P., 1985. DO NEURONS IN THE VERTEBRATE CNS MIGRATE ON LAMININ? EMBO J. 4, 1163-1170.
- LIESI, P., 1985. LAMININ-IMMUNOREACTIVE GLIA DISTINGUISH REGENERATIVE ADULT CNS SYSTEMS FROM NON-REGENERATIVE ONES. EMBO J. 4, 2505-2511.
- LIESI, P., DAHL, D. AND VAHERI, A., 1983. LAMININ IS PRODUCED BY EARLY RAT ASTRO-CYTES IN PRIMARY CULTURE. J CELL BIOL. 96, 920-924.
- LIESI, P., DAHL, D. AND VAHERI, A., 1984. NEURONS CULTURED FROM DEVELOPING RAT BRAIN ATTACH AND SPREAD PREFERENTIALLY TO LAMININ. J NEUROSCI RES. 11, 241-251.
- LIESI, P., FRIED, G. AND STEWART, R. R., 2001. NEURONS AND GLIAL CELLS OF THE EMBRY-ONIC HUMAN BRAIN AND SPINAL CORD EXPRESS MULTIPLE AND DISTINCT ISO-FORMS OF LAMININ. J NEUROSCI RES. 64, 144-167.
- LIESI, P., HAGER, G., DODT, H. U., SEPPALA, I. AND ZIEGLGANSBERGER, W., 1995. DOMAIN-SPECIFIC ANTIBODIES AGAINST THE B2 CHAIN OF LAMININ INHIBIT NEURONAL MI-GRATION IN THE NEONATAL RAT CEREBELLUM. J NEUROSCI RES. 40, 199-206.
- LIESI, P., KAAKKOLA, S., DAHL, D. AND VAHERI, A., 1984. LAMININ IS INDUCED IN ASTRO-CYTES OF ADULT BRAIN BY INJURY. EMBO J. 3, 683-686.
- LIESI, P. AND KAUPPILA, T., 2002. INDUCTION OF TYPE IV COLLAGEN AND OTHER BASE-MENT-MEMBRANE-ASSOCIATED PROTEINS AFTER SPINAL CORD INJURY OF THE ADULT RAT MAY PARTICIPATE IN FORMATION OF THE GLIAL SCAR. EXP NEUROL. 173, 31-45.
- LIESI, P., LAATIKAINEN, T. AND WRIGHT, J. M., 2001. BIOLOGICALLY ACTIVE SEQUENCE (KDI) MEDIATES THE NEURITE OUTGROWTH FUNCTION OF THE GAMMA-1 CHAIN OF LAMININ-1. J NEUROSCI RES. 66, 1047-1053.
- LIESI, P., NARVANEN, A., SOOS, J., SARIOLA, H. AND SNOUNOU, G., 1989. IDENTIFICATION OF A NEURITE OUTGROWTH-PROMOTING DOMAIN OF LAMININ USING SYNTHETIC PEP-TIDES. FEBS LETT. 244, 141-148.
- LIESI, P. AND RISTELI, L., 1989. GLIAL CELLS OF MAMMALIAN BRAIN PRODUCE A VARIANT FORM OF LAMININ. EXP NEUROL. 105, 86-92.
- LIESI, P. AND SILVER, J., 1988. IS ASTROCYTE LAMININ INVOLVED IN AXON GUIDANCE IN THE MAMMALIAN CNS? DEV BIOL. 130, 774-785.
- LINDHOLM, D., HENGERER, B., ZAFRA, F. AND THOENEN, H., 1990. TRANSFORMING GROWTH FACTOR-BETA 1 STIMULATES EXPRESSION OF NERVE GROWTH FACTOR IN THE RAT CNS. NEUROREPORT. 1, 9-12.
- LINDSBERG, P. J., CARPEN, O., PAETAU, A., KARJALAINEN-LINDSBERG, M. L. AND KASTE, M., 1996. ENDOTHELIAL ICAM-1 EXPRESSION ASSOCIATED WITH INFLAMMATORY CELL RESPONSE IN HUMAN ISCHEMIC STROKE. CIRCULATION. 94, 939-945.

- LINKER, R. A., MAURER, M., GAUPP, S., MARTINI, R., HOLTMANN, B., GIESS, R., RIECKMANN, P., LASSMANN, H., TOYKA, K. V., SENDTNER, M. AND GOLD, R., 2002. CNTF IS A MAJOR PROTECTIVE FACTOR IN DEMYELINATING CNS DISEASE: A NEUROTROPHIC CYTO-KINE AS MODULATOR IN NEUROINFLAMMATION. NAT MED. 8, 620-624.
- LIU, B. P., FOURNIER, A., GRANDPRE, T. AND STRITTMATTER, S. M., 2002. MYELIN-ASSOCIATED GLYCOPROTEIN AS A FUNCTIONAL LIGAND FOR THE NOGO-66 RECEP-TOR. SCIENCE. 297, 1190-1193.
- LIU, K. F., LI, F., TATLISUMAK, T., GARCIA, J. H., SOTAK, C. H., FISHER, M. AND FENSTER-MACHER, J. D., 2001. REGIONAL VARIATIONS IN THE APPARENT DIFFUSION COEFFI-CIENT AND THE INTRACELLULAR DISTRIBUTION OF WATER IN RAT BRAIN DURING ACUTE FOCAL ISCHEMIA. STROKE. 32, 1897-1905.
- LORENZO, H. K., SUSIN, S. A., PENNINGER, J. AND KROEMER, G., 1999. APOPTOSIS INDUCING FACTOR (AIF): A PHYLOGENETICALLY OLD, CASPASE-INDEPENDENT EFFECTOR OF CELL DEATH. CELL DEATH DIFFER. 6, 516-524.
- LU, B., PANG, P. T. AND WOO, N. H., 2005. THE YIN AND YANG OF NEUROTROPHIN ACTION. NAT REV NEUROSCI. 6, 603-614.
- MABUCHI, T., KITAGAWA, K., OHTSUKI, T., KUWABARA, K., YAGITA, Y., YANAGIHARA, T., HORI, M. AND MATSUMOTO, M., 2000. CONTRIBUTION OF MICRO-GLIA/MACROPHAGES TO EXPANSION OF INFARCTION AND RESPONSE OF OLI-GODENDROCYTES AFTER FOCAL CEREBRAL ISCHEMIA IN RATS. STROKE. 31, 1735-1743.
- MADISON, R. D., DA SILVA, C., DIKKES, P., SIDMAN, R. L. AND CHIU, T. H., 1987. PERIPHERAL NERVE REGENERATION WITH ENTUBULATION REPAIR: COMPARISON OF BIODE-GRADEABLE NERVE GUIDES VERSUS POLYETHYLENE TUBES AND THE EFFECTS OF A LAMININ-CONTAINING GEL. EXP NEUROL. 95, 378-390.
- MALVA, J. O., CARVALHO, A. P. AND CARVALHO, C. M., 1998. KAINATE RECEPTORS IN HIPPO-CAMPAL CA3 SUBREGION: EVIDENCE FOR A ROLE IN REGULATING NEUROTRANS-MITTER RELEASE. NEUROCHEM INT. 32, 1-6.
- MANTHORPE, M., ENGVALL, E., RUOSLAHTI, E., LONGO, F. M., DAVIS, G. E. AND VARON, S., 1983. LAMININ PROMOTES NEURITIC REGENERATION FROM CULTURED PERIPHERAL AND CENTRAL NEURONS. J CELL BIOL. 97, 1882-1890.
- MARTIN, G. R. AND TIMPL, R., 1987. LAMININ AND OTHER BASEMENT MEMBRANE COMPO-NENTS. ANNU REV CELL BIOL. 3, 57-85.
- MATHEWSON, A. J. AND BERRY, M., 1985. OBSERVATIONS ON THE ASTROCYTE RESPONSE TO A CEREBRAL STAB WOUND IN ADULT RATS. BRAIN RES. 327, 61-69.
- MATSUZAWA, M., TOKUMITSU, S., KNOLL, W. AND LIESI, P., 1998. MOLECULAR GRADIENT ALONG THE AXON PATHWAY IS NOT REQUIRED FOR DIRECTIONAL AXON GROWTH. J NEUROSCI RES. 53, 114-124.
- MATSUZAWA, M., WEIGHT, F. F., POTEMBER, R. S. AND LIESI, P., 1996. DIRECTIONAL NEURITE OUTGROWTH AND AXONAL DIFFERENTIATION OF EMBRYONIC HIPPOCAMPAL NEU-RONS ARE PROMOTED BY A NEURITE OUTGROWTH DOMAIN OF THE B2-CHAIN OF LAMININ. INT J DEV NEUROSCI. 14, 283-295.
- MCALLISTER, A. K., KATZ, L. C. AND LO, D. C., 1999. NEUROTROPHINS AND SYNAPTIC PLAS-TICITY. ANNU REV NEUROSCI. 22, 295-318.

- MCALLISTER, A. K., LO, D. C. AND KATZ, L. C., 1995. NEUROTROPHINS REGULATE DENDRITIC GROWTH IN DEVELOPING VISUAL CORTEX. NEURON. 15, 791-803.
- MCGRAW, J., HIEBERT, G. W. AND STEEVES, J. D., 2001. MODULATING ASTROGLIOSIS AFTER NEUROTRAUMA. J NEUROSCI RES. 63, 109-115.
- MCKEON, R. J., HOKE, A. AND SILVER, J., 1995. INJURY-INDUCED PROTEOGLYCANS INHIBIT THE POTENTIAL FOR LAMININ-MEDIATED AXON GROWTH ON ASTROCYTIC SCARS. EXP NEUROL. 136, 32-43.
- MCKEON, R. J., SCHREIBER, R. C., RUDGE, J. S. AND SILVER, J., 1991. REDUCTION OF NEURITE OUTGROWTH IN A MODEL OF GLIAL SCARRING FOLLOWING CNS INJURY IS CORRE-LATED WITH THE EXPRESSION OF INHIBITORY MOLECULES ON REACTIVE ASTRO-CYTES. J NEUROSCI. 11, 3398-3411.
- MCKERRACHER, L., DAVID, S., JACKSON, D. L., KOTTIS, V., DUNN, R. J. AND BRAUN, P. E., 1994. IDENTIFICATION OF MYELIN-ASSOCIATED GLYCOPROTEIN AS A MAJOR MYELIN-DERIVED INHIBITOR OF NEURITE GROWTH. NEURON. 13, 805-811.
- MCLEAN, W. H., IRVINE, A. D., HAMILL, K. J., WHITTOCK, N. V., COLEMAN-CAMPBELL, C. M., MELLERIO, J. E., ASHTON, G. S., DOPPING-HEPENSTAL, P. J., EADY, R. A., JAMIL, T., PHILLIPS, R. J., SHABBIR, S. G., HAROON, T. S., KHURSHID, K., MOORE, J. E., PAGE, B., DARLING, J., ATHERTON, D. J., VAN STEENSEL, M. A., MUNRO, C. S., SMITH, F. J. AND MCGRATH, J. A., 2003. AN UNUSUAL N-TERMINAL DELETION OF THE LAMININ AL-PHA3A ISOFORM LEADS TO THE CHRONIC GRANULATION TISSUE DISORDER LARYNGO-ONYCHO-CUTANEOUS SYNDROME. HUM MOL GENET. 12, 2395-2409.
- MCMORRIS, F. A., MOZELL, R. L., CARSON, M. J., SHINAR, Y., MEYER, R. D. AND MARCHETTI, N., 1993. REGULATION OF OLIGODENDROCYTE DEVELOPMENT AND CENTRAL NERVOUS SYSTEM MYELINATION BY INSULIN-LIKE GROWTH FACTORS. ANN N Y ACAD SCI. 692, 321-334.
- MEDANA, I. M. AND ESIRI, M. M., 2003. AXONAL DAMAGE: A KEY PREDICTOR OF OUTCOME IN HUMAN CNS DISEASES. BRAIN. 126, 515-530.
- MERKER, H. J., 1994. MORPHOLOGY OF THE BASEMENT MEMBRANE. MICROSC RES TECH. 28, 95-124.
- MIKOL, D. D., GULCHER, J. R. AND STEFANSSON, K., 1990. THE OLIGODENDROCYTE-MYELIN GLYCOPROTEIN BELONGS TO A DISTINCT FAMILY OF PROTEINS AND CONTAINS THE HNK-1 CARBOHYDRATE. J CELL BIOL. 110, 471-479.
- MILATOVIC, D., GUPTA, R. C. AND DETTBARN, W. D., 2002. INVOLVEMENT OF NITRIC OXIDE IN KAINIC ACID-INDUCED EXCITOTOXICITY IN RAT BRAIN. BRAIN RES. 957, 330-337.
- MINER, J. H., CUNNINGHAM, J. AND SANES, J. R., 1998. ROLES FOR LAMININ IN EMBRYO-GENESIS: EXENCEPHALY, SYNDACTYLY, AND PLACENTOPATHY IN MICE LACKING THE LAMININ ALPHA5 CHAIN. J CELL BIOL. 143, 1713-1723.
- MINER, J. H. AND LI, C., 2000. DEFECTIVE GLOMERULOGENESIS IN THE ABSENCE OF LAMININ ALPHA5 DEMONSTRATES A DEVELOPMENTAL ROLE FOR THE KIDNEY GLOMERULAR BASEMENT MEMBRANE. DEV BIOL. 217, 278-289.
- MINER, J. H., LI, C., MUDD, J. L., GO, G. AND SUTHERLAND, A. E., 2004. COMPOSITIONAL AND STRUCTURAL REQUIREMENTS FOR LAMININ AND BASEMENT MEMBRANES DURING MOUSE EMBRYO IMPLANTATION AND GASTRULATION. DEVELOPMENT. 131, 2247-2256.

- MINER, J. H., LI, C. AND PATTON, B. L., 2004. LAMININS ALPHA2 AND ALPHA4 IN PANCREATIC ACINAR BASEMENT MEMBRANES ARE REQUIRED FOR BASAL RECEPTOR LOCALIZA-TION. J HISTOCHEM CYTOCHEM. 52, 153-156.
- MINER, J. H. AND YURCHENCO, P. D., 2004. LAMININ FUNCTIONS IN TISSUE MORPHOGENESIS. ANNU REV CELL DEV BIOL. 20, 255-284.
- MOON, L. D., ASHER, R. A., RHODES, K. E. AND FAWCETT, J. W., 2001. REGENERATION OF CNS AXONS BACK TO THEIR TARGET FOLLOWING TREATMENT OF ADULT RAT BRAIN WITH CHONDROITINASE ABC. NAT NEUROSCI. 4, 465-466.
- MOORE, S. A., SAITO, F., CHEN, J., MICHELE, D. E., HENRY, M. D., MESSING, A., COHN, R. D., ROSS-BARTA, S. E., WESTRA, S., WILLIAMSON, R. A., HOSHI, T. AND CAMPBELL, K. P., 2002. DELETION OF BRAIN DYSTROGLYCAN RECAPITULATES ASPECTS OF CONGENI-TAL MUSCULAR DYSTROPHY. NATURE. 418, 422-425.
- MORGANTI-KOSSMANN, M. C., KOSSMANN, T., BRANDES, M. E., MERGENHAGEN, S. E. AND WAHL, S. M., 1992. AUTOCRINE AND PARACRINE REGULATION OF ASTROCYTE FUNCTION BY TRANSFORMING GROWTH FACTOR-BETA. J NEUROIMMUNOL. 39, 163-173.
- MORISSETTE, N. AND CARBONETTO, S., 1995. LAMININ ALPHA 2 CHAIN (M CHAIN) IS FOUND WITHIN THE PATHWAY OF AVIAN AND MURINE RETINAL PROJECTIONS. J NEUROSCI. 15, 8067-8082.
- MUN-BRYCE, S. AND ROSENBERG, G. A., 1998. MATRIX METALLOPROTEINASES IN CERE-BROVASCULAR DISEASE. J CEREB BLOOD FLOW METAB. 18, 1163-1172.
- NEUMANN-HAEFELIN, T., KASTRUP, A., DE CRESPIGNY, A., YENARI, M. A., RINGER, T., SUN, G. H. AND MOSELEY, M. E., 2000. SERIAL MRI AFTER TRANSIENT FOCAL CEREBRAL ISCHEMIA IN RATS: DYNAMICS OF TISSUE INJURY, BLOOD-BRAIN BARRIER DAM-AGE, AND EDEMA FORMATION. STROKE. 31, 1965-1972; DISCUSSION 1972-1963.
- NGUYEN, N. M., MINER, J. H., PIERCE, R. A. AND SENIOR, R. M., 2002. LAMININ ALPHA 5 IS RE-QUIRED FOR LOBAR SEPTATION AND VISCERAL PLEURAL BASEMENT MEMBRANE FORMATION IN THE DEVELOPING MOUSE LUNG. DEV BIOL. 246, 231-244.
- NISHIMUNE, H., SANES, J. R. AND CARLSON, S. S., 2004. A SYNAPTIC LAMININ-CALCIUM CHANNEL INTERACTION ORGANIZES ACTIVE ZONES IN MOTOR NERVE TERMINALS. NATURE. 432, 580-587.
- NISSINEN, M., VUOLTEENAHO, R., BOOT-HANDFORD, R., KALLUNKI, P. AND TRYGGVASON, K., 1991. PRIMARY STRUCTURE OF THE HUMAN LAMININ A CHAIN. LIMITED EXPRES-SION IN HUMAN TISSUES. BIOCHEM J. 276 (PT 2), 369-379.
- NOAKES, P. G., MINER, J. H., GAUTAM, M., CUNNINGHAM, J. M., SANES, J. R. AND MERLIE, J. P., 1995. THE RENAL GLOMERULUS OF MICE LACKING S-LAMININ/LAMININ BETA 2: NEPHROSIS DESPITE MOLECULAR COMPENSATION BY LAMININ BETA 1. NAT GENET. 10, 400-406.
- NOMIZU, M., UTANI, A., BECK, K., OTAKA, A., ROLLER, P. P. AND YAMADA, Y., 1996. MECHA-NISM OF LAMININ CHAIN ASSEMBLY INTO A TRIPLE-STRANDED COILED-COIL STRUCTURE. BIOCHEMISTRY. 35, 2885-2893.
- OERTLE, T., VAN DER HAAR, M. E., BANDTLOW, C. E., ROBEVA, A., BURFEIND, P., BUSS, A., HUBER, A. B., SIMONEN, M., SCHNELL, L., BROSAMLE, C., KAUPMANN, K., VALLON, R. AND SCHWAB, M. E., 2003. NOGO-A INHIBITS NEURITE OUTGROWTH AND CELL SPREADING WITH THREE DISCRETE REGIONS. J NEUROSCI. 23, 5393-5406.

- OLNEY, J. W., RHEE, V. AND HO, O. L., 1974. KAINIC ACID: A POWERFUL NEUROTOXIC ANA-LOGUE OF GLUTAMATE. BRAIN RES. 77, 507-512.
- OPRICA, M., ERIKSSON, C. AND SCHULTZBERG, M., 2003. INFLAMMATORY MECHANISMS AS-SOCIATED WITH BRAIN DAMAGE INDUCED BY KAINIC ACID WITH SPECIAL REFER-ENCE TO THE INTERLEUKIN-1 SYSTEM. J CELL MOL MED. 7, 127-140.
- OTT, U., ODERMATT, E., ENGEL, J., FURTHMAYR, H. AND TIMPL, R., 1982. PROTEASE RESIS-TANCE AND CONFORMATION OF LAMININ. EUR J BIOCHEM. 123, 63-72.
- PALU, E. AND LIESI, P., 2002. DIFFERENTIAL DISTRIBUTION OF LAMININS IN ALZHEIMER DIS-EASE AND NORMAL HUMAN BRAIN TISSUE. J NEUROSCI RES. 69, 243-256.
- PANAYOTOU, G., END, P., AUMAILLEY, M., TIMPL, R. AND ENGEL, J., 1989. DOMAINS OF LAMININ WITH GROWTH-FACTOR ACTIVITY. CELL. 56, 93-101.
- PARK, C. K., JU, W. K., HOFMANN, H. D., KIRSCH, M., KI KANG, J., CHUN, M. H. AND LEE, M. Y., 2000. DIFFERENTIAL REGULATION OF CILIARY NEUROTROPHIC FACTOR AND ITS RECEPTOR IN THE RAT HIPPOCAMPUS FOLLOWING TRANSIENT GLOBAL ISCHEMIA. BRAIN RES. 861, 345-353.
- PARK, E., VELUMIAN, A. A. AND FEHLINGS, M. G., 2004. THE ROLE OF EXCITOTOXICITY IN SECONDARY MECHANISMS OF SPINAL CORD INJURY: A REVIEW WITH AN EMPHASIS ON THE IMPLICATIONS FOR WHITE MATTER DEGENERATION. J NEUROTRAUMA. 21, 754-774.
- PASTERKAMP, R. J., ANDERSON, P. N. AND VERHAAGEN, J., 2001. PERIPHERAL NERVE INJURY FAILS TO INDUCE GROWTH OF LESIONED ASCENDING DORSAL COLUMN AXONS INTO SPINAL CORD SCAR TISSUE EXPRESSING THE AXON REPELLENT SEMA-PHORIN3A. EUR J NEUROSCI. 13, 457-471.
- PAULSSON, M., AUMAILLEY, M., DEUTZMANN, R., TIMPL, R., BECK, K. AND ENGEL, J., 1987. LAMININ-NIDOGEN COMPLEX. EXTRACTION WITH CHELATING AGENTS AND STRUCTURAL CHARACTERIZATION. EUR J BIOCHEM. 166, 11-19.
- PETERS, B. P., HARTLE, R. J., KRZESICKI, R. F., KROLL, T. G., PERINI, F., BALUN, J. E., GOLD-STEIN, I. J. AND RUDDON, R. W., 1985. THE BIOSYNTHESIS, PROCESSING, AND SECRE-TION OF LAMININ BY HUMAN CHORIOCARCINOMA CELLS. J BIOL CHEM. 260, 14732-14742.
- PIKKARAINEN, T., EDDY, R., FUKUSHIMA, Y., BYERS, M., SHOWS, T., PIHLAJANIEMI, T., SARASTE, M. AND TRYGGVASON, K., 1987. HUMAN LAMININ B1 CHAIN. A MULTIDO-MAIN PROTEIN WITH GENE (LAMB1) LOCUS IN THE Q22 REGION OF CHROMOSOME 7. J BIOL CHEM. 262, 10454-10462.
- PIKKARAINEN, T., KALLUNKI, T. AND TRYGGVASON, K., 1988. HUMAN LAMININ B2 CHAIN. COMPARISON OF THE COMPLETE AMINO ACID SEQUENCE WITH THE B1 CHAIN RE-VEALS VARIABILITY IN SEQUENCE HOMOLOGY BETWEEN DIFFERENT STRUCTURAL DOMAINS. J BIOL CHEM. 263, 6751-6758.
- PONS, S., TREJO, J. L., MARTINEZ-MORALES, J. R. AND MARTI, E., 2001. VITRONECTIN REGU-LATES SONIC HEDGEHOG ACTIVITY DURING CEREBELLUM DEVELOPMENT THROUGH CREB PHOSPHORYLATION. DEVELOPMENT. 128, 1481-1492.
- POPOVICH, P. G., WEI, P. AND STOKES, B. T., 1997. CELLULAR INFLAMMATORY RESPONSE AFTER SPINAL CORD INJURY IN SPRAGUE-DAWLEY AND LEWIS RATS. J COMP NEU-ROL. 377, 443-464.
- PORTER, B. E., WEIS, J. AND SANES, J. R., 1995. A MOTONEURON-SELECTIVE STOP SIGNAL IN THE SYNAPTIC PROTEIN S-LAMININ. NEURON. 14, 549-559.
- PRESTON, E., WEBSTER, J. AND SMALL, D., 2001. CHARACTERISTICS OF SUSTAINED BLOOD-BRAIN BARRIER OPENING AND TISSUE INJURY IN A MODEL FOR FOCAL TRAUMA IN THE RAT. J NEUROTRAUMA. 18, 83-92.
- REIER, P. J. AND HOULE, J. D., 1988. THE GLIAL SCAR: ITS BEARING ON AXONAL ELONGA-TION AND TRANSPLANTATION APPROACHES TO CNS REPAIR. ADV NEUROL. 47, 87-138.
- RELTON, J. K., MARTIN, D., THOMPSON, R. C. AND RUSSELL, D. A., 1996. PERIPHERAL ADMINI-STRATION OF INTERLEUKIN-1 RECEPTOR ANTAGONIST INHIBITS BRAIN DAMAGE AFTER FOCAL CEREBRAL ISCHEMIA IN THE RAT. EXP NEUROL. 138, 206-213.
- RHODES, K. E. AND FAWCETT, J. W., 2004. CHONDROITIN SULPHATE PROTEOGLYCANS: PRE-VENTING PLASTICITY OR PROTECTING THE CNS? J ANAT. 204, 33-48.
- RIVA, M. A. AND MOCCHETTI, I., 1991. DEVELOPMENTAL EXPRESSION OF THE BASIC FIBRO-BLAST GROWTH FACTOR GENE IN RAT BRAIN. BRAIN RES DEV BRAIN RES. 62, 45-50.
- ROSS, C. A., BECHER, M. W., COLOMER, V., ENGELENDER, S., WOOD, J. D. AND SHARP, A. H., 1997. HUNTINGTON'S DISEASE AND DENTATORUBRAL-PALLIDOLUYSIAN ATROPHY: PROTEINS, PATHOGENESIS AND PATHOLOGY. BRAIN PATHOL. 7, 1003-1016.
- SADAMOTO, Y., IGASE, K., SAKANAKA, M., SATO, K., OTSUKA, H., SAKAKI, S., MASUDA, S. AND SASAKI, R., 1998. ERYTHROPOIETIN PREVENTS PLACE NAVIGATION DISABILITY AND CORTICAL INFARCTION IN RATS WITH PERMANENT OCCLUSION OF THE MID-DLE CEREBRAL ARTERY. BIOCHEM BIOPHYS RES COMMUN. 253, 26-32.
- SASAKI, M., KATO, S., KOHNO, K., MARTIN, G. R. AND YAMADA, Y., 1987. SEQUENCE OF THE CDNA ENCODING THE LAMININ B1 CHAIN REVEALS A MULTIDOMAIN PROTEIN CONTAINING CYSTEINE-RICH REPEATS. PROC NATL ACAD SCI U S A. 84, 935-939.
- SASAKI, M., KLEINMAN, H. K., HUBER, H., DEUTZMANN, R. AND YAMADA, Y., 1988. LAMININ, A MULTIDOMAIN PROTEIN. THE A CHAIN HAS A UNIQUE GLOBULAR DOMAIN AND HOMOLOGY WITH THE BASEMENT MEMBRANE PROTEOGLYCAN AND THE LAMININ B CHAINS. J BIOL CHEM. 263, 16536-16544.
- SASAKI, M. AND YAMADA, Y., 1987. THE LAMININ B2 CHAIN HAS A MULTIDOMAIN STRUC-TURE HOMOLOGOUS TO THE B1 CHAIN. J BIOL CHEM. 262, 17111-17117.
- SCHACHNER, M. AND BARTSCH, U., 2000. MULTIPLE FUNCTIONS OF THE MYELIN-ASSOCIATED GLYCOPROTEIN MAG (SIGLEC-4A) IN FORMATION AND MAINTENANCE OF MYELIN. GLIA. 29, 154-165.
- SCHARFMAN, H., GOODMAN, J., MACLEOD, A., PHANI, S., ANTONELLI, C. AND CROLL, S., 2005. INCREASED NEUROGENESIS AND THE ECTOPIC GRANULE CELLS AFTER INTRAHIP-POCAMPAL BDNF INFUSION IN ADULT RATS. EXP NEUROL. 192, 348-356.
- SCHNELL, L. AND SCHWAB, M. E., 1990. AXONAL REGENERATION IN THE RAT SPINAL CORD PRODUCED BY AN ANTIBODY AGAINST MYELIN-ASSOCIATED NEURITE GROWTH INHIBITORS. NATURE. 343, 269-272.
- SCHOBER, A., 2004. CLASSIC TOXIN-INDUCED ANIMAL MODELS OF PARKINSON'S DISEASE: 6-OHDA AND MPTP. CELL TISSUE RES. 318, 215-224.

- SCHWAB, M. E. AND BARTHOLDI, D., 1996. DEGENERATION AND REGENERATION OF AXONS IN THE LESIONED SPINAL CORD. PHYSIOL REV. 76, 319-370.
- SCHWAB, M. E. AND CARONI, P., 1988. OLIGODENDROCYTES AND CNS MYELIN ARE NON-PERMISSIVE SUBSTRATES FOR NEURITE GROWTH AND FIBROBLAST SPREADING IN VITRO. J NEUROSCI. 8, 2381-2393.
- SENSENBRENNER, M., 1993. THE NEUROTROPHIC ACTIVITY OF FIBROBLAST GROWTH FAC-TORS. PROG NEUROBIOL. 41, 683-704.
- SIESJO, B. K., ZHAO, Q., PAHLMARK, K., SIESJO, P., KATSURA, K. AND FOLBERGROVA, J., 1995. GLUTAMATE, CALCIUM, AND FREE RADICALS AS MEDIATORS OF ISCHEMIC BRAIN DAMAGE. ANN THORAC SURG. 59, 1316-1320.
- SIREN, A. L., FRATELLI, M., BRINES, M., GOEMANS, C., CASAGRANDE, S., LEWCZUK, P., KEENAN, S., GLEITER, C., PASQUALI, C., CAPOBIANCO, A., MENNINI, T., HEUMANN, R., CERAMI, A., EHRENREICH, H. AND GHEZZI, P., 2001. ERYTHROPOIETIN PREVENTS NEURONAL APOPTOSIS AFTER CEREBRAL ISCHEMIA AND METABOLIC STRESS. PROC NATL ACAD SCI U S A. 98, 4044-4049.
- SKUBITZ, A. P., LETOURNEAU, P. C., WAYNER, E. AND FURCHT, L. T., 1991. SYNTHETIC PEP-TIDES FROM THE CARBOXY-TERMINAL GLOBULAR DOMAIN OF THE A CHAIN OF LAMININ: THEIR ABILITY TO PROMOTE CELL ADHESION AND NEURITE OUT-GROWTH, AND INTERACT WITH HEPARIN AND THE BETA 1 INTEGRIN SUBUNIT. J CELL BIOL. 115, 1137-1148.
- SMITH-SWINTOSKY, V. L. AND MATTSON, M. P., 1994. GLUTAMATE, BETA-AMYLOID PRE-CURSOR PROTEINS, AND CALCIUM MEDIATED NEUROFIBRILLARY DEGENERATION. J NEURAL TRANSM SUPPL. 44, 29-45.
- SMITH-THOMAS, L. C., STEVENS, J., FOK-SEANG, J., FAISSNER, A., ROGERS, J. H. AND FAW-CETT, J. W., 1995. INCREASED AXON REGENERATION IN ASTROCYTES GROWN IN THE PRESENCE OF PROTEOGLYCAN SYNTHESIS INHIBITORS. J CELL SCI. 108 (PT 3), 1307-1315.
- SMYTH, N., VATANSEVER, H. S., MURRAY, P., MEYER, M., FRIE, C., PAULSSON, M. AND ED-GAR, D., 1999. ABSENCE OF BASEMENT MEMBRANES AFTER TARGETING THE LAMC1 GENE RESULTS IN EMBRYONIC LETHALITY DUE TO FAILURE OF ENDODERM DIF-FERENTIATION. J CELL BIOL. 144, 151-160.
- SNOW, D. M., LEMMON, V., CARRINO, D. A., CAPLAN, A. I. AND SILVER, J., 1990. SULFATED PROTEOGLYCANS IN ASTROGLIAL BARRIERS INHIBIT NEURITE OUTGROWTH IN VI-TRO. EXP NEUROL. 109, 111-130.
- SPRINGER, J. E., AZBILL, R. D. AND KNAPP, P. E., 1999. ACTIVATION OF THE CASPASE-3 APOP-TOTIC CASCADE IN TRAUMATIC SPINAL CORD INJURY. NAT MED. 5, 943-946.
- STICHEL, C. C. AND MULLER, H. W., 1994. RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN INJURY-INDUCED AS-TROGLIOSIS, LAMININ EXPRESSION AND AXONAL SPROUTING IN THE ADULT RAT BRAIN. J NEUROCYTOL. 23, 615-630.
- STICHEL, C. C. AND MULLER, H. W., 1998. THE CNS LESION SCAR: NEW VISTAS ON AN OLD REGENERATION BARRIER. CELL TISSUE RES. 294, 1-9.
- STOCKLI, K. A., LILLIEN, L. E., NAHER-NOE, M., BREITFELD, G., HUGHES, R. A., RAFF, M. C., THOENEN, H. AND SENDTNER, M., 1991. REGIONAL DISTRIBUTION, DEVELOPMENTAL CHANGES, AND CELLULAR LOCALIZATION OF CNTF-MRNA AND PROTEIN IN THE RAT BRAIN. J CELL BIOL. 115, 447-459.

- STOLL, G., JANDER, S. AND SCHROETER, M., 1998. INFLAMMATION AND GLIAL RESPONSES IN ISCHEMIC BRAIN LESIONS. PROG NEUROBIOL. 56, 149-171.
- SUNADA, Y., BERNIER, S. M., UTANI, A., YAMADA, Y. AND CAMPBELL, K. P., 1995. IDENTIFI-CATION OF A NOVEL MUTANT TRANSCRIPT OF LAMININ ALPHA 2 CHAIN GENE RE-SPONSIBLE FOR MUSCULAR DYSTROPHY AND DYSMYELINATION IN DY2J MICE. HUM MOL GENET. 4, 1055-1061.
- SUSIN, S. A., LORENZO, H. K., ZAMZAMI, N., MARZO, I., SNOW, B. E., BROTHERS, G. M., MAN-GION, J., JACOTOT, E., COSTANTINI, P., LOEFFLER, M., LAROCHETTE, N., GOODLETT, D. R., AEBERSOLD, R., SIDEROVSKI, D. P., PENNINGER, J. M. AND KROEMER, G., 1999. MOLECULAR CHARACTERIZATION OF MITOCHONDRIAL APOPTOSIS-INDUCING FAC-TOR. NATURE. 397, 441-446.
- SWANN, J. W., AL-NOORI, S., JIANG, M. AND LEE, C. L., 2000. SPINE LOSS AND OTHER DEN-DRITIC ABNORMALITIES IN EPILEPSY. HIPPOCAMPUS. 10, 617-625.
- TAKANO, K., TATLISUMAK, T., BERGMANN, A. G., GIBSON, D. G., 3RD AND FISHER, M., 1997. REPRODUCIBILITY AND RELIABILITY OF MIDDLE CEREBRAL ARTERY OCCLUSION USING A SILICONE-COATED SUTURE (KOIZUMI) IN RATS. J NEUROL SCI. 153, 8-11.
- TAOKA, Y., OKAJIMA, K., UCHIBA, M., MURAKAMI, K., KUSHIMOTO, S., JOHNO, M., NARUO, M., OKABE, H. AND TAKATSUKI, K., 1997. ROLE OF NEUTROPHILS IN SPINAL CORD INJURY IN THE RAT. NEUROSCIENCE. 79, 1177-1182.
- TATLISUMAK, T. AND FISHER, M., 2006. HANDBOOK OF EXPERIMENTAL NEUROLOGY, METHODS AND TECHNIQUES IN ANIMAL RESEARCH. CAMBRIDGE UNIVERSITY PRESS.
- THURET, S., MOON, L. D. AND GAGE, F. H., 2006. THERAPEUTIC INTERVENTIONS AFTER SPI-NAL CORD INJURY. NAT REV NEUROSCI. 7, 628-643.
- TIMPL, R. AND BROWN, J. C., 1996. SUPRAMOLECULAR ASSEMBLY OF BASEMENT MEM-BRANES. BIOESSAYS. 18, 123-132.
- TIMPL, R., JOHANSSON, S., VAN DELDEN, V., OBERBAUMER, I. AND HOOK, M., 1983. CHARAC-TERIZATION OF PROTEASE-RESISTANT FRAGMENTS OF LAMININ MEDIATING AT-TACHMENT AND SPREADING OF RAT HEPATOCYTES. J BIOL CHEM. 258, 8922-8927.
- TIMPL, R., ROHDE, H., ROBEY, P. G., RENNARD, S. I., FOIDART, J. M. AND MARTIN, G. R., 1979. LAMININ--A GLYCOPROTEIN FROM BASEMENT MEMBRANES. J BIOL CHEM. 254, 9933-9937.
- TRANQUE, P. A., CALLE, R., NAFTOLIN, F. AND ROBBINS, R., 1992. INVOLVEMENT OF PROTEIN KINASE-C IN THE MITOGENIC EFFECT OF INSULIN-LIKE GROWTH FACTOR-I ON RAT ASTROCYTES. ENDOCRINOLOGY. 131, 1948-1954.
- TSAI, E. C. AND TATOR, C. H., 2005. NEUROPROTECTION AND REGENERATION STRATEGIES FOR SPINAL CORD REPAIR. CURR PHARM DES. 11, 1211-1222.
- TSIRKA, S. E., ROGOVE, A. D., BUGGE, T. H., DEGEN, J. L. AND STRICKLAND, S., 1997. AN EX-TRACELLULAR PROTEOLYTIC CASCADE PROMOTES NEURONAL DEGENERATION IN THE MOUSE HIPPOCAMPUS. J NEUROSCI. 17, 543-552.
- TUCKER, B. A., RAHIMTULA, M. AND MEAROW, K. M., 2008. SRC AND FAK ARE KEY EARLY SIGNALLING INTERMEDIATES REQUIRED FOR NEURITE GROWTH IN NGF-RESPONSIVE ADULT DRG NEURONS. CELL SIGNAL. 20, 241-257.

- TURNLEY, A. M. AND BARTLETT, P. F., 1998. MAG AND MOG ENHANCE NEURITE OUT-GROWTH OF EMBRYONIC MOUSE SPINAL CORD NEURONS. NEUROREPORT. 9, 1987-1990.
- UTANI, A., NOMIZU, M., SUGIYAMA, S., MIYAMOTO, S., ROLLER, P. P. AND YAMADA, Y., 1995. A SPECIFIC SEQUENCE OF THE LAMININ ALPHA 2 CHAIN CRITICAL FOR THE INITIA-TION OF HETEROTRIMER ASSEMBLY. J BIOL CHEM. 270, 3292-3298.
- UTANI, A., NOMIZU, M., TIMPL, R., ROLLER, P. P. AND YAMADA, Y., 1994. LAMININ CHAIN AS-SEMBLY. SPECIFIC SEQUENCES AT THE C TERMINUS OF THE LONG ARM ARE RE-QUIRED FOR THE FORMATION OF SPECIFIC DOUBLE- AND TRIPLE-STRANDED COILED-COIL STRUCTURES. J BIOL CHEM. 269, 19167-19175.
- VAN DER KNAAP, M. S., SMIT, L. M., BARTH, P. G., CATSMAN-BERREVOETS, C. E., BROUWER, O. F., BEGEER, J. H., DE COO, I. F. AND VALK, J., 1997. MAGNETIC RESONANCE IMAG-ING IN CLASSIFICATION OF CONGENITAL MUSCULAR DYSTROPHIES WITH BRAIN ABNORMALITIES. ANN NEUROL. 42, 50-59.
- WANG, Q., YU, S., SIMONYI, A., SUN, G. Y. AND SUN, A. Y., 2005. KAINIC ACID-MEDIATED EX-CITOTOXICITY AS A MODEL FOR NEURODEGENERATION. MOL NEUROBIOL. 31, 3-16.
- WANG, V. Y. AND ZOGHBI, H. Y., 2001. GENETIC REGULATION OF CEREBELLAR DEVELOP-MENT. NAT REV NEUROSCI. 2, 484-491.
- WEISS, J. H. AND SENSI, S. L., 2000. CA2+-ZN2+ PERMEABLE AMPA OR KAINATE RECEPTORS: POSSIBLE KEY FACTORS IN SELECTIVE NEURODEGENERATION. TRENDS NEUROSCI. 23, 365-371.
- WIKSTEN, M., LIEBKIND, R., LAATIKAINEN, T. AND LIESI, P., 2003. GAMMA 1 LAMININ AND ITS BIOLOGICALLY ACTIVE KDI-DOMAIN MAY GUIDE AXONS IN THE FLOOR PLATE OF HUMAN EMBRYONIC SPINAL CORD. J NEUROSCI RES. 71, 338-352.
- WIKSTEN, M., VÄÄNÄNEN, A. J., LIEBKIND, R. AND LIESI, P., 2004. REGENERATION OF ADULT RAT SPINAL CORD IS PROMOTED BY THE SOLUBLE KDI DOMAIN OF GAMMA1 LAMININ. J NEUROSCI RES. 78, 403-410.
- VÄÄNÄNEN, A. J., RAUHALA, P., TUOMINEN, R. K. AND LIESI, P., 2006. KDI TRIPEPTIDE OF GAMMA1 LAMININ PROTECTS RAT DOPAMINERGIC NEURONS FROM 6-OHDA IN-DUCED TOXICITY. J NEUROSCI RES. 84, 655-665.
- XU, J., KIM, G. M., CHEN, S., YAN, P., AHMED, S. H., KU, G., BECKMAN, J. S., XU, X. M. AND HSU, C. Y., 2001. INOS AND NITROTYROSINE EXPRESSION AFTER SPINAL CORD INJURY. J NEUROTRAUMA. 18, 523-532.
- YAMAKUNI, T., OZAWA, F., HISHINUMA, F., KUWANO, R., TAKAHASHI, Y. AND AMANO, T., 1987. EXPRESSION OF BETA-NERVE GROWTH FACTOR MRNA IN RAT GLIOMA CELLS AND ASTROCYTES FROM RAT BRAIN. FEBS LETT. 223, 117-121.
- YEPES, M., SANDKVIST, M., WONG, M. K., COLEMAN, T. A., SMITH, E., COHAN, S. L. AND LAW-RENCE, D. A., 2000. NEUROSERPIN REDUCES CEREBRAL INFARCT VOLUME AND PRO-TECTS NEURONS FROM ISCHEMIA-INDUCED APOPTOSIS. BLOOD. 96, 569-576.
- YIN, Y., KIKKAWA, Y., MUDD, J. L., SKARNES, W. C., SANES, J. R. AND MINER, J. H., 2003. EX-PRESSION OF LAMININ CHAINS BY CENTRAL NEURONS: ANALYSIS WITH GENE AND PROTEIN TRAPPING TECHNIQUES. GENESIS. 36, 114-127.
- YU, S. W., WANG, H., POITRAS, M. F., COOMBS, C., BOWERS, W. J., FEDEROFF, H. J., POIRIER, G. G., DAWSON, T. M. AND DAWSON, V. L., 2002. MEDIATION OF POLY(ADP-RIBOSE) PO-

LYMERASE-1-DEPENDENT CELL DEATH BY APOPTOSIS-INDUCING FACTOR. SCIENCE. 297, 259-263.

- YURCHENCO, P. D., AMENTA, P. S. AND PATTON, B. L., 2004. BASEMENT MEMBRANE ASSEM-BLY, STABILITY AND ACTIVITIES OBSERVED THROUGH A DEVELOPMENTAL LENS. MATRIX BIOL. 22, 521-538.
- YURCHENCO, P. D., QUAN, Y., COLOGNATO, H., MATHUS, T., HARRISON, D., YAMADA, Y. AND O'REAR, J. J., 1997. THE ALPHA CHAIN OF LAMININ-1 IS INDEPENDENTLY SECRETED AND DRIVES SECRETION OF ITS BETA- AND GAMMA-CHAIN PARTNERS. PROC NATL ACAD SCI U S A. 94, 10189-10194.
- YURCHENCO, P. D. AND SCHITTNY, J. C., 1990. MOLECULAR ARCHITECTURE OF BASEMENT MEMBRANES. FASEB J. 4, 1577-1590.
- ZAI, L. J., YOO, S. AND WRATHALL, J. R., 2005. INCREASED GROWTH FACTOR EXPRESSION AND CELL PROLIFERATION AFTER CONTUSIVE SPINAL CORD INJURY. BRAIN RES. 1052, 147-155.
- ZHANG, J., DAWSON, V. L., DAWSON, T. M. AND SNYDER, S. H., 1994. NITRIC OXIDE ACTIVA-TION OF POLY(ADP-RIBOSE) SYNTHETASE IN NEUROTOXICITY. SCIENCE. 263, 687-689.